

Walden University Scholar Works

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2015

# Leaders' Risk Propensity and Delegation of Critical Decision-Making Authority

Reginald Carlton Doctor Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the <u>Business Administration</u>, <u>Management</u>, and <u>Operations Commons</u>, <u>Management</u> Sciences and Quantitative Methods Commons, and the Social and Behavioral Sciences Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

## Reginald Doctor

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

#### **Review Committee**

Dr. Lee Lee, Committee Chairperson, Management Faculty Dr. Robert Levasseur, Committee Member, Management Faculty Dr. Salvatore Sinatra, University Reviewer, Management Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2015

#### **Abstract**

# Leaders' Risk Propensity and Delegation of Critical Decision-Making Authority

by

#### Reginald Doctor

MBAT, Seattle Pacific University, 2014

MBA, City University of Seattle, 2001

MPA, City University of Seattle, 2001

BS, Columbia College, 1997

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Applied Management and Decision Sciences

Walden University

September 2015

#### **Abstract**

A leader's unwillingness to delegate critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees negatively impacts the performance of a firm. There is a lack of research that measures a leader's willingness to delegate critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees based on their individual risk propensities. The purpose of this study was to provide empirical evidence of the influence risk propensity has on a leader's willingness to delegate critical decision-making authority. Specifically, this study examined the extent that risk propensity of leaders affect delegating critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees. The research design was a quantitative cross-sectional, correlation study that involved 56 questions. The study participants (N = 102) were presidents, CEOs, corporate executives, and chairpersons. The Stimulating-Instrumental Risk Inventory measured risk propensity and the Delegation Decision Instrument measured the willingness delegate critical decision-making authority. Both instruments showed to be reliable in terms of internal consistency for the measurement tests. Survey results revealed a significant negative correlation between a leader's risk propensity and the willingness to delegate critical decision-making authority. These findings suggested that leaders who retain primary responsibility for critical decision making have high risk propensity while those who delegate decisions have less risk propensity. These findings may equip theorists of risk propensity and decision-making on the relationship between delegation behaviors, risk propensity, and organizational performance. This research and the resulting analysis provides decision makers a window into their individual risk propensity preferences.

# Leaders' Risk Propensity and Delegating Critical Decision-Making Authority

by

## Reginald Doctor

MBAT, Seattle Pacific University, 2014

MBA, City University of Seattle, 2001

MPA, City University of Seattle, 2001

BS, Columbia College, 1997

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Applied Management and Decision Sciences

Walden University

September 2015

#### Dedication

I dedicate my dissertation work to my family and many friends. A special feeling of gratitude to Dorothy Frances Doctor and Peterine Lois Doctor, for without their affection, love, encouragement and push for tenacity this achievement would not be possible. To my sisters and brothers who have always loved me unconditionally and whose good examples have taught me to work hard for the things that I aspire to achieve. I also dedicate this dissertation to Francesca Lawrence who has inspired me to pursue my dreams. I am truly thankful for having you in my life.

#### Acknowledgement

In the long journey through the dissertations process, I have been fortunate to have benefited from the academic support and professional guidance of some very thoughtful people. My first debt of sincere gratitude must go to my advisor, Dr. Lee Lee. He patiently provided extraordinary mentorship (vision, encouragement, and advice) necessary for me to proceed through the Doctorial program and complete my dissertation.

Special thanks to Dr. Robert Levasseur, who provided tremendous support and guidance through my dissertation process. I thank him for reading my study and advising me with valuable feedback that greatly improved its quality.

Next, I would like to thank my most trusted advisor and business partner, Veltry Johnson. He has supported me with timely encouragement and inspiration through some trying times throughout this process.

And finally, I would like to thank my executive coach, Randy Massengale, who supplied me with endless leadership knowledge and executive confidence.

# Table of Contents

List of Tables	v
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	1
Problem Statement	4
Research	5
Purpose of Study	6
Theoretical Framework	8
Research Questions or Hypotheses	10
Definitions	13
Assumptions	16
Scope of Study & Delimitations	16
Limitations	17
Significance of the Study	17
Summary	20
Chapter 2: Literature Review	21
Introduction	21
Literature Search Strategy	23
Theoretical Foundation	25
Critical Decisions	28
Summary	40
Leadership	41

Summary	47
Delegation of Authority	48
Trust and Risk	51
Summary	52
Risk Propensity	54
Trust and Risk	60
Summary	61
Chapter 3: Research Method	63
Introduction	63
Research Design	64
Population, Sample, and Sampling Procedure	67
Measures	70
Risk Propensity Measurement	71
Crticial Decision Delegation Measurement	72
Demographic Measurement	73
Instrument Conclusion: Validity and Reliability	73
Data Collection	74
Data Analysis	76
Hypotheses	77
Participant's Rights for Participation	78
Discussions & Conclusions	79
Chapter 4: Results	81

Introduction	81
Sample Description	81
Sample and Sampling Procedures	81
Data Collection	82
Measures	83
Construct Validity and Reliability of Variables	83
Descrptive Statistics	85
Hypotheses Testing	86
Summary	89
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	91
Introduction	91
Discussion and Interpretation of Findings	92
Recommendations	94
Limitations	94
Implications for Social Change	96
Implications of the Study	97
Suggestions for Further Research	98
Summary	99
References	101
Appendix A: Risk Propensity Instrument	126
Appendix B: Critical Decision Delegation Instrument	128
Appendix C: Participant Invitation Letter	131

Appendix D: Participant Consent	
---------------------------------	--

# List of Tables

Table 1. Integrated Descriptive Statistics Summary	84
Table 2. Correlations among Variables	84
Table 3. Delegation By Risk Propensity and Types of Decisions	89

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

#### **Background**

Business enterprises are social entities that are goal directed with deliberately structured activity systems (Brown, 2011; Daft, 2015). When business enterprises are successful, value is created for owners, investors, customers, employees, and other stakeholders. Businiess enterprises bring together resources to accomplish specific goals, whether those goals are strategic, such as international expansion, or operational, such as improving production capacity. High-performance enterprises produce goods and services utilizing innovative processes, techniques, and modern manufacturing technology for competitive pricing and sustaining or improving market capitalization. Enterprises are never completely static and they do not exist in isolation of other entities. They have continuous interaction with external forces, including competitors, customers, governments, stockholders, suppliers, society, and unions (Brown, 2011; Daft, 2015).

Leadership is a crucial dynamic of business success. Leadership drives business effectiveness through strategic and operational application of critical decisions. Critical decisions are decisions that match the strategic competencies of an enterprise with its operating environment (Denis, Kisfalvi, Langley, & Rouleau, 2011; Papadakis & Barwise, 2002). Critical decisions are strategic, operational, and administrative decisions that improve an oganization's future, keep it competitive, and address imperative needs directed at the current and envisioned future state (Denis et al., 2011; Papadakis & Barwise, 2002). Critical decisions are infrequent decisions formed by top leaders that drive performance, negatively or positively, and an organization's survival in its

operating environments. Critical decisions shape the cause of an organization; in other words, the decisions which are paramount, in terms of actions taken, resources committed, or precedents set (Janczak, 2005). Critical decisions drive capacity and capability, establish quality dimensions, influence change, shape direction, operationalize mission, vision, and ethics, and exemplify the selection of the most appropriate market entry strategies and problem solving solutions.

The role of leadership is to evaluate and select strategic options, formulate strategic processes, and direct the implementation of selected options (Bass, 2008; Northouse, 2012). Leadership professionals are responsible for directing the organization towards process improvement and operational efficiency. They are responsible for making critical decisions regarding an enterprise's competitive positioning, vertical integration, process technology, operational capacity and capabilities, and facility utilization. Additional critical decision areas may include supply chain management, change management initiatives, strategic usage of information systems, quality and regulatory control systems, asset investments, financial risk, and risk management systems. These critical decisions are a part of the organization's strategic development processes. Leadership professionals formulate critical decisions that ultimately place the enterprise in positions to succeed or fail in every facet of operations (Hitt, Ireland, & Hoskisson, 2012; Kriger & Zhovotbryukh, 2012). The execution of critical decisions rest with organizational leadership unless responsibility is delegated.

The leadership team is responsible for directing businesses to achieve strategic purposes for which it exists. This position is entrusted to formulate critical decisions

directly affecting the nature and success of the enterprise. These decisions are those concerned with both internal and external affairs. Critical decisions influence strategy formation and implementation, change, information technology, knowledge management, product and service diversification, competitive positioning and marketing presence, global expansion, rules, regulations, and policys. The process of making a critical decision is both complex and time consuming. To utilize their time effectively, leaders delegate critical decision tasks to subordinate managers and employees. Delegation of authority is a system that transfers task authority to another person to perform functions on behalf of the former (Chevrier & Viegas-Pires, 2013; Yukl, 2012). As leaders continue to seek innovative ways to maximize productivity and increase business performance, it has become progressively necessary to understand characteristics and motivations of delegating critical decision-making authority (Chevrier & Viegas-Pires, 2013; Sengul, Gimeno, & Dial, 2012).

There is a considerable amount of risk associated with making critical decisions. Risk is defined as a deviation of one or more results of one or more future events from their expected value or outcome (Chen, Wang, Herath, & Rao, 2011; O'Neill, 2001; Renn, 1998; Spulick, 2015). O'Neill (2001) argued risk is the uncertainty of outcomes. Risk is inherent to critical decision making because these decisions are often made in environments of uncertainty. Uncertainty in environmental forces, project risks, and unforeseeable accidents affect the probabilities of risk which could result in financial loss or fundamentally undermine the marketplace position of an organization. Another risk probability that affects the critical decision development and selection is the decisions

maker's risk propensity. Risk propensity is defined as a tendency to take or avoid risks (Chen et al., 2011; O'Neill, 2001; Spulick, 2015). Risk propensity impacts the options a decision maker is willing to chance when making a decision, to include delegating the authority of critical decision making. Risk preferences and values affect the position of whether leadership chooses to delegate critical decision-making authority. Critical decisions are the result of several decision formulas which include the risk propensity of the decision maker. Delegation of critical decisions making authority involves taking risks (Sengual et al., 2012). Risk is an inherent element of critical decisions (Bodnar, Giambbona, & Harvey, 2014).

#### **Problem Statement**

While previous research has explored risk propensity (Chen et al., 2011; Keil, Wallace, Turk, Dixon-Randell, & Nulden, 2000; Macrimmon & Wehrung, 1990; O'Neil, 2001; Renn, 1998; Spulick, 2015), delegation of authority (Chevrier & Viegas-Pires, 2013; Håkonsson, Burton, & Obel, 2012; Harris & Raviv, 2005; Lee, 2010; Sengul et al., 2012; Yukl, 2012), organizational leadership (Bass, 2008; Daft, 2015; Denis et al., 2011; Kriger & Zhovotbryukh, 2012; Northouse, 2012; Tichy & Cardwell, 2004; Yukl, 2012), and critical decisions (Janczak, 2005; Kriger & Zhovotbryukh, 2012, Papadakis & Barwise, 2002; Wilburn & Wilburn, 2011), there is a lack of research that combines these theories in measuring a leader's willingness to delegate critical decision-making authority to suborndinate managers and employees based on their individual risk propensities.

The question addressed in this study is how much does risk propensity influence a leader's willingness to delegate critical decision making authority to subordinate

managers and employees. This study sought to determine a leader's willingness to delegate critical decision making authority based on the effect of their individual risk preferences. Although previous research has explored critical decisions (Denis et al., 2011; Hitt et al, 2012; Janczak, 2005; Kriger & Zhovotbryukh, 2012; Papadakis & Barwise, 2002; Wilburn & Wilburn, 2011) and delegation of authority (Chevrier & Viegas-Pires, 2013; Harris & Raviv, 2005; Lee, 2010; Sengul et al., 2012; Yukl, 2012), this study includes the creation of a research instrument combining both theories to measure a leader's decision to delegate critical decision making authority to further explore the relationship between risk propensity and a willingness to delegate critical decision making authority. Delegation of critical decision making based on risk preferences remains relatively unexplored despite evidence of its importance to enterprise effectiveness.

#### Research

The focus of this study is delegation of critical decision-making authority as it is executed by leaders with various risk propensities. Delegation of authority empowers specific decision making criteria in the execution of the task assignment. It is a shift of decision-making authority from one organizational level to another. However, the leader who delegates decision making authority remains accountable for the outcome of the delegated responsibility.

Researchers have shown that effective delegation of authority to subordinate managers and employees is essential to increased productivity and successful business enterprise performance (Yukl, 2012). There are serious disadvantages when a small

number of top leaders personally formulate or approve most decisions. The focus of this study is the delegation of critical decision-making authority by leaders with various risk propensities. The question, then, is to what extent, if any, the risk propensities of leaders affect their delegation of critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees.

According to Bass (2008), it is common for leaders to experience difficulty with delegating critical decision making authority, thus becoming hesitant in transferring authority for critical decision making. Delegation of authority involves trusting the individual assigned said authority. Trusting another person to accomplish a task at a specific standard comes with degrees of risk. Entrusting subordinate managers and employees with authority and establishing accountability for results are pivotal elements of effective delegation of critical decision making authority to accomplish enterprise goals. According to Bass (2008), risk propensities affect the leadership that emerges during opportunities to delegate authority. Leaders take some degree of risk, knowing that it goes hand and hand with success and failure. All risks are not equal and there are situations where the best choice is not obvious (Chen et al., 2011; Gollier, Hammitt, & Treich, 2013). During these situations a leader's risk propensity determines the degree of risk he or she willing to assume.

#### **Purpose of Study**

The purpose of this study was to investigate the relationship between delegating critical decision-making authority by leaders with various risk propensities levels in order to identify and describe, through quantitative research, assumptions drawn upon leaders

with various risk propensities. This study details, documents, and explains the ways in which risk propensity influences delegating critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees. Specifically, this research explored both the willingness of a leader to delegate critical decision making to subordinate managers and employees based on their risk propensity and to what extent, if any, there exists a willingness to delegate critical strategic decisions more or less than delegating critical operational decisions.

This research provided new information available to leadership theorists, researchers, universities, business enterprises, leaders, and leadership development program administrators. This research illustrated a range of delegation behaviors based on risk propensities of leaders. With this available research, business enterprises, leaders, and leadership development administrators can better identify and keep current on the influence risk propensity in delegating critical decision making authority.

Futhermore this study provided quantitative evidence through a structured questionnaire to a sample of 102 leaders that provided data of the influence of risk propensities on the willingness to delegate critical decision making authority, provided support to the existing body of knowledge with regard to leadership, delegation of authority, critical decisions, risk propensity, and added another dimension to the understanding of specific leadership phenomena, specifically in the assignment of delegating critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees. Questionnaires was sent to 1040 potential participants. This study investigated how

significant a role leader's risk propensity has in delegating critical decision-making authority subordinate managers and employees.

Few things in organizations are as persuasive as leadership. Leadership is seen from the boardroom to the battle fields of war. Leaders guide nations as well as religious congregations. Leadership is exercised throughout organizations all over the world. The health and growth of all business enterprises rises and falls on leadership (Bass, 2008; Daft, 2015). The wellbeing of all firms primarily rests upon the leadership factor (Yukl, 2012). According to Bass (2008), Daft (2015), and Northouse (2012), other factors such as resources, location, personnel, and opportunities are also important, but these factors will be impacted by competent or inept leadership.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

A theoretical framework is presented which provided guidance for exploring the existing extant literature for establishing a theoretical base. The theoretical models involved in this study are leadership, strategy and critical decisions, delegation, and risk taking. Researchers in leadership have advocated that leadership provides the vision and direction an organization is to pursue (Bass, 2008; Daft, 2015; Gregoire & Arendt, 2014; Kriger & Zhovotbryukh, 2012). Daft (2015), Northouse (2012), and Tichy & Cardwell (2004) argued that leadership provides sufficient support to stakeholders while executing an organizations vision. The theoretical model of leadership suggests its purpose is to motivate and inspire organizational personnel and stakeholders effectively with purposeful vision and strategic direction. Further explanation of the leadership theoretical frame will be explored in Chapter 2.

Researchers in critical decisions have advocated the exploration of the dynamics of strategic and operational decisions to develop a greater understanding of how top leadership in organizations utilize these decision dynamics for the sole purpose of furthering the mission of the enterprise (Janczak, 2005; Papadakis & Barwise, 2002). The theoretical model of strategy suggests organizations survive and prosper through effective utilization of critical decisions. Further explanation of critical decision theoretical frame will be explored in Chapter 2.

Researchers in delegation of authority have advocated delegation of authority literature is built on the observation that delegation of decision making authority can lead to beneficial outcomes (Daft, 2015; Lee, 2010; Sengul et al., 2012). According to Sengul et al. (2012), delegation, or empowering one to act on behalf of another, is a sine qua non of the modern firm. The general theoretical model of delegation of authority suggests delegation of decision making to subordinate managers and employees is efficient when they allocate resources, including their own efforts, in ways that do not divert from the organization's objectives. Based on the review of the delegation of authority literature, existing research is categorized by the emphasis on different dimensions of the delegation process: (a) the selection of managers or agents, and (b) the allocation of decision rights and organizational design. Studying delegation of authority directs theorists and researchers understanding of how leaders, staff and organizations flourish through effective usage of delegating decision making authority. Further explanation of delegation of authority theoretical frame will be explored in Chapter 2.

Researchers in risk propensity have advocated the study of risk has been of interest to academics for hundreds of years (Kuzniak, Rabbani, Heo, Ruiz-Menjivar, & Grable, 2015); however, most attempts to understand risk tolerance are relatively recent (Dohmen et al., 2011). Risk tolerance revolves around four methodologies: choice dilemmas, utility theory, heuristic judgments, and subjective assessment. Gollier, Hammitt, and Treich (2013) and O'Neill (2001) argued the study of risk taking explores and measures an individual's risk propensity in decision processes. Risk taking is measures the willingness or unwillingness of an individual to make a decision based on situational dynamics (Dohmen et al., 2011). The theoretical model of risk taking suggests there are two ends of the risk taking spectrum, risk seeking and risk averse, with risk neutral as the median risk preference. Risk taking emerged in the early part of the twentieth century as a means to predetermine individual actions. The purpose of risk taking studies is to determine through exploration an individual's behavioral and emotion patterns when presented a decision situation involving calculating unknown outcomes. Risk taking research evolved in the field of psychology. Studying risk taking directs theorists and researchers understanding of how individuals perform in decision processes under conditions of risk and uncertainty. Further explanation of risk propensity theoretical frame will be explored in Chapter 2.

#### **Research Questions/Hypothesis**

#### **Question/Hypotheses**

Over the past three decades, the role of risk in decision making has been the topic of extensive research (Renn, 1998). Researchers who study leadership, risk propensity,

critical decisions, anddelegating of authority have underscored the importance of acknowledging influence of risk propensity as a foundation. This foundation assists in understanding how leaders delegate critical decision making authority within organizations (Bass, 2008; Daft, 2015; Hitt et al., 2012 Keil et al., 2000; Janczak, 2005; Lee, 2010; Papadakis & Barwise, 2002; Renn, 1998; Tichy & Cardwell, 2004; Yukl, 2012; Wilburn & Wilburn, 2011). However, there has been little examination of the level and determinants of risk propensity's relative influence on a leader's willingness to delegate critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees. Additionally, Renn (1998) found that individuals vary in their perceptions between reality and the possibility of adverse effects. Therefore, this variation results in the courses taken and outcomes achieved in human decision activities.

Researchers who have previously studied risk propensity have not distinguished the relationship between risk and delegating critical decision authority to subordinate managers and employees. Leaders who make critical decisions give organizations the capability to compete across industries by improving organizational efficiency and effectiveness (Papadakis & Barwise, 2002). Hitt et al. (2012) and Janzcak (2005) argued critical decisions are risky decisions that influence the capability to manage significant firm resources than may lead to creating or sustaining competitive advantages. However, there is no empirical evidence showing to what extent risk propensity influences delegating critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees.

The importance of studying these issues is increasing, given the nature of organizations, the effects of critical decisions on organizational performance, and the

consequent demands for efficient usage of organizational resources to remain effective in national and global landscapes. Because strategic and operational critical decisions affect the capabilities of organizations differently, these two dynamics within the critical decision umbrella should also be studied to give organizations, leaders, and research the capability to understand the implications and lead to these differences when necessary.

Based on the notion that risk propensity affects the willingness of leaders to delegate critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees, it is relevant for social science researchers, practitioners, universities, and senior leaders to develop an understanding of the influence risk propensity has on leaders within the organization.

The research questions for this study are:

Research Question 1: To what extend does risk propensity of leaders affect delegating critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees?

H1-0 ( $\rho$  ( $R \infty D$ )  $\geq 0$ ): Leaders with high risk propensity are equally or more likely to delegate critical decision making authority to followers than those with low risk propensity.

H1-a ( $\rho$  (R $\infty$ D) < 0): Leaders with high risk propensity are less likely to delegate critical decision making to followers than those with low risk propensity.

In mathematical formula,

H1-0: 
$$\rho(R \infty D) \geq 0$$

H1-a: 
$$\rho(R \infty D) < 0$$
,

Where  $\rho$ , R, D,  $\infty$  refers to correlation, leader's risk propensity, leader's delegation of decision making authority, and between the two variables, respectively.

Research Question 2: To what extent does risk propensity of leaders affect delegating critical decision making authority for operational and strategic decisions?

 $\label{eq:hamiltonian} \text{H2-0 ($\rho$ ($R$$$\varpi$DO))} \leq \rho \left(R$$\varpi$DS))$: Leaders with high risk propensity are equally or more likely to delegate critical decision making authority for operational decisions to followers than strategic decisions.$ 

H2-a ( $\rho$  (R $\infty$ DO) >  $\rho$  (R $\infty$ DS)): Leaders with high risk propensity are less likely to delegate critical decision making authority of operational decisions to followers than strategic decisions.

In mathematical formula,

H2-0: 
$$\rho$$
 (R $\infty$ DO)  $\leq \rho$  (R $\infty$ DS)

H2-a: 
$$\rho$$
 (R $\infty$ DO)  $> \rho$  (R $\infty$ DS)

Where DO and DS refers to leader's delegation of decision making authority for operational decisions, and leader's delegation of decision making authority for strategic decisions, respectively.

#### **Definitions**

The variables used in this research merit defining since many of the constructs can have more than one meaning or intended definition. For this study, the dependent variable is delegation of authority. For this study, the independent variables are critical decisions, leadership, and risk propensity. This study will examine the relationship

between a leader's propensity for risk taking and his or her willingness to delegate critical decision making authority and their propensity for risk taking.

For the purpose of this study a critical decision is defined as decision matching strategic, operational, and administrative competencies of the business enterprises with its operating environment. Critical decisions are utilized to develop the future of a business enterprise, sustain or advance its competitive position, and address critical needs directed at its current and envisioned future state (Hitt et al., 2012; Papadakis & Barwise, 2002). According to Hitt et al. (2012) and Janczak (2005), critical decisions are those fundamental decisions that shape the purpose of a business enterprises, in other words, the decisions which are important, in terms of actions taken, resources committed, or precedents set. Critical decisions drive capacity and capability, establish quality dimensions, influence change, shape direction, operationalize mission, vision, and ethics, and exemplifies the selection of the most appropriate market entry strategies and problem solving solutions. Critical decisions are risky and significant decisions made by top leaders of a business enterprise that affect its performance, negatively or positively, and its survival in its operating environment.

For the purpose of this study leadership is defined as the ability to influence the behavior and outlook of enterprise stakeholders by persuading them to follow a particular course of action and achieve a particular future. According to Northouse (2012), leadership executives are responsible for the strategic vision, mission accomplishment, resource allocations and acquisitions, and internal and external affairs of a business enterprise. Leadership involves formulating strategies that extend beyond enterprise

boundaries into the external environment (Hannigan, Hamilton III, & Mudambi, 2015; Hitt et al., 2012; Spulick, 2015). According to Men (2012) and Ryan (2012), leadership is a symmetrical relationship of influence, where one actor guides or directs the behaviors towards a certain goal over a certain period of time. Leadership theorists Bass (2008) and Northouse (2012) explain leadership as a function that employs analytical tools and frameworks that surfaces data required to make critical decisions concerning a firm's vision, direction, and performance to achieve operational excellence.

For the purpose of this study delegation of authority is defined as both and art and a science (Daft, 2015; Donnell, Yukl, & Taber, 2012; Yukl, 2012). According to Harris and Raviv (2005), delegation is an authoritative decision that transfers decision making authority away from a leader to subordinate managers and employees. Delegation of authority is the practice of transferring proper authority to complete task assignments (Hoque, 2011). It is the assignment of specified authority to execute delegated activities. This transfer of authority authorizes subordinate managers and employees to make critical decisions in performance of business tasks (Daft, 2015; Northouse, 2012). However, leaders remains accountable for the ultimate outcome regardless of decision making authority granted.

For the purpose of this study risk propensity is defined as an individual's propensity to take or avoid risks (O'Neill, 2001; Renn, 1998). An individual's risk propensity may have significant impact on delegation of critical decision making authority under conditions of risk and uncertainty. For the purpose of the study risk must also be defined to better understand risk propensity. Risk is the uncertainty of outcomes.

According to risk theorist O'Neill (2001) and Renn (1998), risk is the deviation of one or more results of one or more future events from an expected value or outcome.

Technically, the value of those results may be positive or negative. Uncertainty in environmental forces, project failures, and unforeseeable accidents affect the probabilities of risk. During times of high risk alternatives individual risk preferences and values affect the leadership that emerges. Degrees of risk go hand and hand with degrees of success.

#### **Assumptions**

In this study, it is assumed that respondents will be truthful in answering survey questions. It is also assumed that the samples to be used for this study are representative of risk propensities of leaders. While the majority of the research found addresses leadership traits, risk propensity, critical decisions, and delegation of authority, risk propensity both positively and negatively affects the willingness of leaders to delegate critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

The scope of this study is the delegation of critical decision making authority based on the risk propensities of leaders. This study investigates the significance of a leader's risk propensity in relation to their willingness to delegate critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees. This study considers the perceptions of others within the leadership circle concerning the usage of delegation and the influence of risk propensity.

Delimitations of this study are the boundaries of the question and inquiry, the case studies and scholarly literature to be studied, and the setting of the study. A second

delimitation is this study is a mail survey of current senior management and executive rank personnel in various industries globally, excluding individuals who do not currenttly hold critical decision-making authority.

#### Limitations

This is a cross-sectional survey study of a leader's behavior based on risk propensity. It is assumed that causality exists and using one group to test causality. Survey study is used for testing relationships and associations amongst variables in a study, not causality. Therefore, a limitation of this study is that it does not necessarily confirm causality. A second potential limitation is the generalizability of the findings. Respondents varied in range of critical decision responsibilities or work within a tight controlled enterprise which regulates risk for top leaders. A third limitation is the response rate of the survey. The respondents included for this study are in the senior management category that generally filters the email messages from senders whom they do not recognize and therefore may ignore the email invitation to participate in the survey.

#### **Significance of the Study**

This study is significant because little research has been conducted with regard to the relationship of delegating critical decision making authority by leaders with varying risk propensities for improved understanding of delegation and decision processes. This study sought to extend the knowledge, skills, values, and attitudes needed by individuals in the leadership category. The trend of leadership research in the past has been based on broad application of transactional, transformational, visionary, situational, and

charismatic leadership styles (Daft, 2015; Dionne, Gupta, Sotak, Shirreffs, Serban, Hao, & Yammarino, 2014; Gardner, 2010; Northouse, 2012). This study of the variances in execution of delegating critical decision making authority in relationship with leaders' risk propensities provides exploratory research on how this relationship influences firm productivity and performance. This cross-sectional study of delegating critical decision making authority employed by leaders with various risk-propensities adds to the knowledge base and provide further direction for leaders aspiring to be successful at increasing firm productivity and performance by properly delegating critical decision-making authority.

This study highlights the complexity of the affect risk propensity has on the willingness of leader to delegate critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees. There exists a need to better interpret the relationship between risk propensity and delegating critical decision making authority to increase our understanding of leadership behaviors in order to understand what affect this relationship has on delegating critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees. Leadership skills require continuous learning and feedback in order to improve its effectiveness and utilization. The findings in this study adds to the pool of leadership and decision-making knowledge that will benefit leaders in their ability to leverage future business enterprises, and future research projects.

The impact of this study on social change directly addresses the need for broader leadership and subordinate professional development. As the global marketplace has become the dominate marketplace business enterprises continue to seek innovative ways

to strengthen performance and productivity. The global marketplace influence makes it increasingly necessary to increase our understanding of and improve upon leadership performance and inclusion of subordinates in critical decision making. The social benefit of professional development is it improves the skill sets of leaders, subordinate managers, and employees. When leaders improve their skill sets other employees benefit from their actions. Delegating critical decision-making authority empowers subordinate managers and employees to participate in important business decisions. This inclusion and trust is a powerful motivator for subordinate managers and employees. The consequences of leadership development initiatives directly affect the lives of so many stakeholders, far beyond those who participate in leadership development efforts. Effective leadership designs a workplace where as many individuals as possible have the opportunity to make critical decisions important to the success of the firm and their professional development. As competition increases between business enterprises, the need for superior quality, increased capacity and capability, and competent workforces necessitates effective delegation at all levels. In this study I examined the impact risk propensity has in delegating critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees. This will impact positive change by preparing professionals for leadership in business and society by developing their professional competence in the context of developing themselves and subordinate managers and employees. This study will also assist in developing an academic and theoretical understanding of business leadership; and to promote this understanding in the development of staff through mentoring, pursuit of scholarship, and engagement with the broader business community. Finally, this

researcher brings to the forefront the importance of understanding differences and similarities between delegation of critical decision making authority and risk propensity.

#### **Summary**

Many studies, books, and articles address the importance critical decisions, leadership, risk propensity, and delegation of authority. Critical decisions carry high level risks which leads to various conditions of comfort and discomfort when delegating. By design, leaders utilize resources to formulate solutions for business problems and opportunities, rather than go it alone. Effective leadership understands that including staff in critical decision making improves business decision results. Effective critical decision making entails simultaneous activity by individuals at multiple levels of the business enterprises. When properly approached, the process of delegating critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees is an invaluable tool for organizational leadership. Increased productivity and organizational performance hinge on subordinate involvement through participative critical decision making that effective delegation advances.

Chapter 2 includes the literature search strategies, theoretical foundations, and a review of the literature of the key definitions and theories regarding critical decisions, leadership, risk propensity, and delegation of authority.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

#### Introduction

The central theme of this study is based on the belief that a leader's willingness to delegate critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees is affected by their risk propensity. The purpose of this study is to provide quantitative evidence of the influence risk propensity has on delegating critical decision making authority by leaders to subordinate managers and employees, provide support to the existing body of knowledge with regard to leadership, delegation of authority, critical decisions, and risk propensity, and add another dimension to the understanding of specific leadership phenomena, specifically in the assignment of critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees. This study investigates whether risk propensity plays a pivotal function in delegating authority to execute critical decisions. The literature review completed for this study discusses relevant research associated with independent and dependent variables. Research on leadership, critical decisions, and risk propensity are reviewed with regard to the elements that are used to define the construct for measurement purposes. Delegation of authority, as a dependent variable, is reviewed with regard to the elements that are used to define the construct for measurement purposes based on its effect on a leader's willingness to delegate authority to subordinates and groups.

The first section discusses the independent variable, critical decisions, with the purpose of defining the construct of this study. The construct of critical decisions is taken primarily from the work of Denis et al. (2011), Håkonsson et al. (2012), Hitt et al.

(2012), Janczak (2005), Jayaram, Choon Tan, and Laosirihongthong (2014), Kim, Sting, and Loch (2014), Kriger and Zhovotbryukh (2012), Magretta (2012), Millett (2012), Nooraie (2012), Papadakis and Barwise (2002), Paiva and Vieira (2011), Salih and Doll (2013), Sakas, Vlachos, and Nasiopoulos (2014), Slack (2015), Slack and Lewis (2011), Tamm, Seddon, Parkes, and Kurnia (2014), Uhl-Bien and Marion (2011), Upton (2012), and Wilburn and Wilburn (2011). The second section discusses the independent variable, leadership, with the purpose of defining the construct of this study. The construct of leadership is taken primarily from the work of Battilana, Gilmartin, Sengul, Pache, and Alexander (2010), Bass (2008), Daft (2015), Gardner, Lowe, Moss, Mahoney, and Cogliser (2010), Goldman (2012), Gregoire and Arendt (2014), Hannigan et al. (2015), Hughes, Beatty, and Dinwoodie (2014), Kriger and Zhovotbryukh (2012), Lord and Shondrick (2011), Lunenburg (2011), Men (2012), Northouse (2012), Ryan (2012), Schoemaker, Krupp, and Howland (2013), and Yukl (2012). The third section discusses the dependent variable, delegation of authority, with the purpose of defining the construct of this study. The construct of delegation of authority is taken primarily from the work of Bass (2008), Chevrier and Viegas-Pires (2013), Daft (2015), Donnell et al. (2012), Håkonsson et al. (2012), Harris and Raviv (2005), Kimemia (2011), Kuzniak et al. (2015), Lee (2010), Mayer, Davis, and Schoorman (1995), Sengul et al. (2012), Sengul and Gimeno (2013), Tichy and Cardwell (2004), and Yukl (2012). The last section discusses the independent variable, risk propensity, with the purpose of defining the construct of this study. The construct of risk propensity is taken primarily from the work of Abdellaoui, Diecidue, and Öncüler (2011), Bass (2008), Bleichrodt, L'haridon, and

Van Ass (2014), Chen et al. (2011), Dohmen et al. (2012), Gollier et al. (2013), Hancer, Ozturk, and Ayyildiz (2009), Kuzniak et al. (2015), MacCrimmom and Wehrung (1990), Mishra and Lalumière (2011), Nicholson, Fention-O'Creecy, Soane, and William (2005), Nieß & Biemann (2014), Nobre and Grable (2015), O'Neill (2001), Outreville (2014), Renn (1998), Riabacke (2006), Schumann, Furman, and Shooter (2010), Spulick (2015), Tversky and Kahneman (1992), Verbano and Venturini (2013), and Xue (2014).

#### **Literature Search Strategy**

This researcher conducted literature reviews of leadership, risk propensity, strategic management, operations management, delegation of authority and critical decision making from 2009 through 2015. Through the utilization of critical decisions, operations management, and strategic management research this researcher developed a delegation of critical decision making authority instrument to test the hypotheses of this study.

Literature review research for this study was achieved through the usage of peerreviewed journals, business school presses, professional conference papers, and
practitioner books. Example of peer reviewed journals utilized in data collection for this
research are Academy of Management Executive, Strategic Management Journal, Journal
of Management Science, Journal of Applied Psychology, Academy of Management
Journal, Journal of Risk Research, Organizational Dynamics, International Journal of
Operations and Production Management, Operations Research, Journal of Leadership
Studies, Behavior Research Methods, Journal of Operations Management, Administrative
Science Quarterly, Organization Science, Risk Analysis, Journal of

Risk, Journal of Risk Research, Stochastic Environmental Research and Risk

Assessment, Risk Management: An International Journal, Journal of Risk and

Uncertainty, Climate Risk Management, Journal of Risk and Insurance, and Journal of

Behavioral Decision Making. Examples of business school press papers ulitized in data

collection for this research are Harvard Business Review, London School of Business,

Sloan Management Review, and Cornell University Press. Examples of conference

papers ulitized in data collection for this research are International Institute for

Management Development and Osaka Semicentenial International Symposium. Example

of practitioner books ulitized in data collection for this research are Bass and Stodgills

Handbook of Leadership, Boals Encycopedia of Leadership, Executive Leadership, Mail

and Internet Surveys, Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design, and Organization Design

and Theory.

Search terms utilized for critical decision making literature review are decision theories, strategic decisions, operational decisions, administrative decisions, decision analysis, and executive decisions. Search terms utilized for strategic management literature review are theories of strategic management process, strategy defined, competitive strategy, strategy formulation, strategy development, strategic implementation, strategic planning, environmental analysis, growth and expansion strategies, business process management, global business strategy, corporate strategy, corporate governance and corporate finance. Search terms utilized for operations management literature review are theories of operations, capacity planning, capabilities planning, vertical integration strategy, product and service diversification strategy,

business operations, facilities planning, strategic outsourcing and information technology investment strategies. Search terms utilized for leadership literature review are leadership defined, executive leadership, strategic leadership, change leadership, corporate vision, chairman of the board, board of directors, leadership development, top executives, organizational leaders, chief executive officer stewardship, leading in a global marketplace, leading in the 21st century, leading in a technological age, excellence in leadership and leading high performance organizations. Search terms utilized for risk propensity literature review are theories of risk taking, risk defined, risky decisions, prospect theory, ulitity theory, risk management, risk and uncertainty in decision processes, risk propensity, managerial risk taking, organizational risk taking, and trust propensity. Search terms utilized for delegation of authority literature review are theories of delegation, effective delegation, delegation of authority, delegation and power, strategic delegation, delegation strategies, executive delegation, delegation and empowerment, employee empowerment, employee development and delegation and organizational performance.

#### **Theoretical Foundation**

The theoretical models involved in this study are leadership, strategy and critical decisions, delegation of authority and risk taking. Bass (2008), Daft (2015), Northouse (2012), and Uhl-Bien and Marion (2011) proposed leadership provides the vision and direction an organization pursues. Leadership provides sufficient support to stakeholders while in pursuant of executing an organizations vision. The theoretical model of leadership suggests its purpose is to effectively motivate and inspire organizational

personnel and stakeholders with purposeful vision and strategic direction. Studying leadership directs theorists and researchers understanding of the leadership function in modern organization and particularly its role in leveraging organizational strengths in pursue of long term sustainability and profitability.

Janczak (2005), Kriger and Zhovotbryukh (2012), and Papadakis and Barwise (2002) summarized strategy as a long range planning method utilized for the sole purpose of planning and executing decisions to sustain an organizations future by top leadership. The theoretical model of strategy suggests organizations survive and prosper through effective utilization of critical decisions. Critical decisions are made in an effort to direct a business enterprise through the usage of allocated resources to a state of marketplace or industry advantage. Studying strategy directs theorists and researchers in understanding how organizations formulate its vision and analyze its operating environment while creating long term sustainability, profitability and stakeholder value.

Daft (2015), Lee (2010), and Sengul et al. (2012) summarized delegating authority of decision making to direct reports to execute tasked responsibilities with sufficient authority to perform responsibilities effectively. The purpose of delegating decision-making authority is for beneficial outcomes of the organization and the individuals delegated authority. The theoretical model of delegation of authority suggests that leaders gain both time and influence from delegating to subordinate managers and employees, the subordinate manager or employee gains in professional development through task accomplishments and the organization gains in both an increase in professional competence among staff and completion of task. Specifically, the leader

gains more time to directly oversee more critical responsibilities and the delegated individuals gain in development of competencies and incentive to become more committed to the organization's vision and mission. Delegation decisions may be both externally oriented to shape competitive interactions as well as internally oriented to achieve efficient strategy formulation and implementation. Studying delegation of authority directs theorists and researchers understanding of how leaders, staff and organizations flourish through effective usage of delegating decision making authority.

According to Sengul et al. (2012), delegation of authority itself is a two-step process. First, leaders first decide whether he or she will delegate the responsibility for some decisions to a subordinate manager or employee. Secondly, when a leader decides to delegate, then he or she will determine how the delegation should take place.

Typically, these two steps are highly interrelated. But in most settings, and in most firms, decisions are normally delegated from shareholders to professional managers and from top management to unit or division managers. Thus, the central aspect of the delegation of authority decisions is its design, in particular to whom authority will be delegated and under which organizational structure and with what extent of authority the delegate will operate (Sengual et al., 2012).

After 75 years of study in the United States, the assessment of risk tolerance has tended to revolve around four methodologies: choice dilemmas, utility theory, heuristic judgments, and subjective assessment (Renn, 1998). Choice dilemmas, a once a popular method of evaluating risk, are scenarios where respondents ask asked to make a risk choice for themselves or someone else regarding an everyday life event. This method was

proven to yield minimal results regarding the nature of risk. Utility theory, currently a popular measurement of risk, fails to measure risk accurately because the magnitudes of potential loss and gain amounts, their chances of occurrence, and the exposure to potential loss contribute to the degree of threat (versus opportunity) in a risky situation (Kuzniak et al., 2015). Kuzniak et al. (2015) argued individuals tend to be consistently more willing to take risks when certain losses are anticipated, and are more willing to settle for a sure gain when absolute gains are anticipated.

Heuristic judgments are commonly used to assess and predict risk tolerance. But heuristic judgments often fail to adequately explain or predict actual investor behavior. In many cases heuristic judgments are little more than commonly accepted myths; providing limited insight regarding risk tolerance. Research findings related to choice dilemmas, utility theory and heuristic judgments have led some researchers and practitioners studying risk-tolerance theory to conclude that these methods are not entirely appropriate when attempting to assess an individual's risk tolerance (Kuzniak et al., 2015). Designing assessment instruments specifically to assess subjective risk tolerance using multidimensional scenarios and situations will yield a more accurate measurement of individual risk tolerance.

### **Critical Decisions**

For the purpose of this study a critical decision is defined as decisions matching strategic, operational, and administrative competencies of business enterprises with its operating environment. Critical decisions are utilized to develop the future of a business enterprise, sustain or advance its competitive position, and address critical needs directed

at its current and envisioned future state (Papadakis & Barwise, 2002). According to Janczak (2005), critical decisions are those fundamental decisions that shape the purpose of a business enterprise, in other words, the decisions which are important, in terms of actions taken, resources committed, or precedents set. Critical decisions drive operational capacity and capability, establish quality dimensions, influence change, shape direction, operationalize mission, vision, and ethics, and exemplifies the selection of the most appropriate market entry strategies and problem solving solutions. Critical decisions are risky and significant decisions made by top leaders of a business enterprise that affect its performance, negatively or positively, and its survival in its operating environment.

Critical decisions are strategic, operational and administrative in nature. Strategic decisions are long term decisions. Examples of strategic decisions are new marketplace entrance and business acquisition for enterprise growth strategies. Operational decisions are technical decisions which execute intermediate and short term day to day activities. Examples of operational decisions are process technology investments or capacity strategies for creation and delivery of goods and services. Administrative decisions are routine decisions that facilitate the smooth governance of business enterprise policies. Examples of administrative decisions are labor negotiations or downsizing to meet future labor needs. Strategic, operational, and administrative decisions function as interrelated and interdependent parts. Strategic decisions facilitate operational and administrative decisions. For example, reducing overall labor cost is a strategic decision which is achieved operationally through reducing the number of employees associated with non-

functioning business units, and administratively by how the reductions are achieved through appropriate legal procedures with employees.

Critical operational decisions are distinguishable from broad critical strategic decisions in that its central focus is guiding a business enterprise in formulating operational capabilities that enables it to pursue its chosen competitive strategy over the long-term. According to Slack and Lewis (2011) and Slack (2015), operational decisions are centered on the ability to deliver winning products and services. According to Slack and Lewis (2011) and Slack (2015), operational decisions seek to advance the functional dynamics of vertical integration, process technology, capacity, facility utilization, sourcing, supply chain management, and capabilities. In an effort to maximize creation and delivery of goods and services operational concerns center on performance dimensions of cost, quality, availability, innovativeness, and process performance.

Demester, DeMeyer, and Grahovac (2014) pointed out critical operational decision concentration involves the direction, control, and evaluation of a range of processes transforming inputs such as capital, materials, land, energy, information and customer feedback, into finished goods or services.

Leadership formulates and directs implementation of critical decisions that ultimately place business enterprises in position to succeed or fail in every facet of operations (Kriger & Zhovotbryukh, 2012; Wilburn & Wilburn, 2011). The role of leadership is to evaluate and select strategic options, formulate strategic processes, and direct the implementation of selected options. Critical decisions are decisions concerning competitive positioning, environmental forces, change management initiatives, strategic

usage of information systems, vertical integration, process technology, enterprise capacity, facility utilization, sourcing, supply chain management, enterprise capabilities, control systems, investments and financial risk, and risk management systems. Critical decisions are required in executing specific strategies in developing specific capabilities called competitive performance dimensions such as cost, quality, time, availability and flexibility. Critical decisions are the platforms in which organizations launch strategic, operational, and administrative performance and productivity processes. The risk of ineffective critical decisions may result in ineffective internal and external performance, or even worst, catastrophe. The events of the Columbia Space Shuttle and Three Mile Island Nuclear Power Plant tragedies are examples of ineffective critical decisions resulting in life changing circumstances.

Janczak (2005) argued one of the many functions of leadership is to arrive at policy-making decisions, that is, critical decisions that drive the survival of a business enterprise. He stressed critical decisions involve creating and implementing chosen key strategies that embodies successful ventures. According to Daft (2015), Denis et al. (2011), and Hitt et al. (2012), policy-making decisions are multidimensional decisions which impact the future of the business enterprise. To ensure firms operate successfully in its multiple environments leadership focuses on addressing the most relevant critical issues in which its future hinges. The responsibility of senior leadership is shaping critical objectives while defining how firms function in its operating environments. Thus, policy-making decisions act as an important determinant of enterprise performance outcomes (Janczak, 2005).

According to Janczak (2005), the responsibility and task categorization of critical decisions differ from routine decisions. The responsibility for critical decisions rest with senior leadership unless the responsibility has been delegated. Critical decisions fall into several task categories. One task involves the definition and execution of the firm's mission, vision, and existence. Another task involves shaping the character of the enterprise which includes establishing culture and embodiment of purpose, and creating a structure that achieves the desired end.

According Sengul and Gimeno (2011), critical decisions are selected consequential alternatives that are implemented solely for the purpose of keeping the enterprise competitive in their operating industries and marketplaces. When an enterprise's competitive position is in misalignment with its strategic and operational visions critical decisions to effectively realign its competitive position as envisioned are necessary and are formulated and implemented by enterprise leadership. Hitt et al, (2012) suggested that senior leadership continuously monitors and evaluates the organizations' current state against its operational environment. When its operational environment signals negative influences critical decisions are needed to effectively counter adverse pressures. According to Hannigan et al. (2015 and Sakas et al. (2014), a dynamic of being competitive is continuously updating product and service portfolios to support critical organizational goals. In this way a firm ensures product and service relevancy as it continues to place itself in positions of successful industry and marketplace performance. Competitive positioning also includes making critical decisions in the development of the firm's value chain, to include both qualitative and quantitative techniques.

Business enterprises operate in industries and marketplaces in which specific external factors are beyond the control of its leadership (Hitt et al., 2012; Wang, 2013). Such factors belong to what is categorized as the external environment. An external environment consists of competitors, and systems such as social, economic, political, legal, and monetary. Examples of external factors are regulatory and compliance, the availability of credit and capital, emerging markets forces, industry consolidation, and global financial shocks. The influence of these external factors on a business enterprise's strategy and operations varies from positive to negative, depending on the circumstances and time-sensitive critical decisions of leadership. To effectively counter external forces critical decisions must be formulated to affect challenges or take advantage of opportunities facing the business enterprise. According to Millett (2012) and Wang (2013), external factors drive leadership to constantly create or revise enterprise strategies. For instance, governments can impose new restrictions and fees for marketplace operations. New regulations require critical decisions to better align strategies and operations to comply with regulations. The risk of noncompliance can result in government penalties and additional restrictions on business enterprise operations.

According to Adebisi (2015), Magnetia (2012), Millett (2012), and Wang (2013), critical decisions are born of and reflect the firm's desires to interact and excel within its external environment. These decisions are based on two criteria: long term needs and immediate threats of a business enterprise A firm's external environment has a tremendous influence on the state of operations, which keeps enterprise leadership in

constant critical decision mode while assessing the impact of external influences. From the results of the impact assessments critical decisions are formulated and implemented based on the anticipated influences of the external environment on the future of the firm's operations. If these risky decisions are mishandled due to poor evaluation or adversely affected by the risk propensity of the decision maker, this may result in lost market share.

Enterprise capabilities are instrumentally strategic and operational in nature. Critical decisions are formulated to build enterprise capabilities through a stream of investments over time. According to Hitt et al. (2012) and Wang (2013), central to an enterprise's competitive advantage is its capability to transform and deliver goods and services equal to or better than the competition. Examples of capabilities advantages are superior marketing channels, logistical prowess, and advance information processing. Operational capabilities are treated as deployment assets that facilitate addressing critical areas as needed in response to consumer demand and competitive forces (Slack, 2015). The more specialized the enterprise capability the more likely an enterprise produces a sustainable advantage since specialized capabilities are difficult for competitors to duplicate.

Another external factor influencing enterprise critical decision making is the rapid speed of technology. Newer technology enables an organization to achieve greater efficiency in operations, market penetration and promotion, financials and asset management, supply chain management, product and service development, quality and delivery, R&D, employee training, and customer relations. Newer technology presents situations where enterprise leadership weighs the pros and cons of the cost of upgrading.

The risk of underutilization is falling behind competitors in operational efficiency, time to delivery, quality, relevancy of products and services, R&D, and customer relations. For example, the risk of ineffective customer relations management is a lack of understanding what the customer values therefore under-performing to customer expectations. When an enterprise's competitors have a better understanding of what the customer values they are better prepaid to quickly alter products and services to deliver what's preferred in the marketplace.

Information systems are a critical function of an organization's strategy. Strategic use of information management, information technology, the Internet and intranet, and business unit integration is essential to achieving organizational performance goals and objectives. New information system technologies are increasingly changing industry and marketplace dynamics. The successful business enterprise of the future will be those that make timely critical decisions in aligning its strategic and operating models to new and updated information systems. Engaged leadership understands the complexity and essentiality of aligning information systems with enterprise strategies. According to Hitt et al. (2012) and Tamm et al. (2014), underutilization of information systems as a strategic tool will result in a loss of competitive advantage or a decrease in competitiveness through inferior performance in process conversion, time to market dimensions, wasteful operations, and quality of goods and services. Additional risks include slow firm transformation, ineffective asset management, average supply chain management, unsustainable change strategies, and inefficient control systems.

According to Hitt et al. (2012), critical decisions seek to enhance quality, efficiency and responsiveness of business processes that lead to the creation of outputs. It is through these decisions competitive advantages are gained, sustained, or lost. Dimensions of quality are both strategic and operational issues. Critical decisions establish where to position the enterprise along the various dimensions of quality, ensuring products and services are reliable and function as expected. Organizations succeed or fail on the quality of its conversion process systems and satisfaction of its customers. Enterprise's which provides higher quality than its competition for identical prices is more attractive and responsive to customers. Higher quality leads to better efficiency in that it lowers waste levels and operating costs, thereby deriving a competitive advantage. Efficiency decisions are formulated to successfully achieve design to delivery processes profitably by capitalizing on operational capacity while minimizing waste. Organizations achieve lower cost and minimize wasteful activities when its operations are efficient. Therefore, the amount of input to produce a given output is carefully calculated to leverage efficient processes. Less input for a given process lowers cost and waste. Improved efficiency leads to lower costs and better performance.

Responsive decisions establish how effectively an enterprise responds to operational conditions. Responsiveness is the cornerstone of operational excellence. An enterprise's ability to respond successfully is significant in effectively competing in their marketplaces. Responsiveness hinges on an enterprise's flexibility in responding to market demands and meeting or exceeding reliability and performance expectations of its

goods and services. Flexibility in responding to customer demands builds and sustains the solid relationship needed for success. When organizations become inflexible, failing to match demands with supply or customer performance expectations, it stands to not only lose short-term revenue but long-term market share. Take Compaq in 1995 for example, Compaq estimated it lost \$0.5 billion to \$1 billion dollars in sales in 1995 because it failed to provide laptops when and where needed. This failure resulted in its inability to regain market share, thus leading to a forced merger with HP. Reliability and performance of goods and services is fundamental to an enterprise's prosperous relationship with customers. Matching reliability and performance with customer expectations is pivotal to success and marketshare.

Change strategy is a critical part of sustaining operations. Effective change initiatives are essential to the future of business success. The change formulation, whether based on a continuous or discontinuous strategy, is the most critical and risky piece of a change initiative. Another risky dynamic of business change initiatives is implementation. According to organizational change theorists Manduca (2012) and Slattery (2013), implementation of organizational wide or business unit change involves a high risk component of ensuring successful and sustainable change, second only to the formulation of the strategic initiative. These organizational change theorists argued that it is here within the implementation that dynamic resistance to change is encountered. If resistance strategies dealing with resistance is not decided on prior to implementation the risk of failure is greater. According to Brown (2011) and Slattery (2013), the final critical piece of business change transformation is follow-up. If, during follow-up evaluations,

the outcome of change is not achieved critical decisions are required to counter the effects of incomplete change outcomes. Without these counter decisions the change initiative will result in failure.

Enterprise leadership establishes control systems for business activities, resource allocation, and reporting compliance. Firms succeed or fail based on established control systems. Without control systems in place the possibility of excessive misuse of resources, lack of quality assurance of good and services designed and delivered, and continuous missed target deadlines increases. For instance, an instrument of control establish by leadership is an internal audit. Internal audits review the activities designated for evaluation, such as financial and accounting soundness, information system integrity, process conversion systems, facility utilization, and quality assurance. According to Artz, Homburg, and Rajab (2012) and Upton (2012), the risk of not establishing a viable internal audit system results in the inability of improving efficiency, effectiveness, and overall control of activities. Without internal audits leadership is limited in formulating solutions to avoid or solve for identified weaknesses or problems. Another form of control is corporate governance. This form of control involves the evaluation of activities such as management performance, codes of ethics, regulatory compliance, and SEC regulatory compliance for traded enterprises. The risk of non-compliance with the SEC is substantial civil fines, trading restrictions, and criminal proceedings. According to Artz et al. (2012), the risk of not evaluating the performance of management leads to the inability of solving critical business issues that befalls managerial incompetence.

According to Slack and Lewis (2011) and Slack (2015), process decisions establish how enterprises structure it conversion systems. Enterprise operations hinge on its conversion process systems. Through process systems inputs are acquired, converted, and disposed. The actual rate of acquired inputs converted to outputs is the capacity of production and direct services delivery (Slack, 2015). An organization's capacity is realized through several formats: manufacturing, direct services, and a combination of the manufacturing and direct services. It's common in several industries for operations to be divided into manufacturing and service business units. For example, separation of process systems is common in auto and aerospace industries where manufacturing is interdependent but standalone from direct services. The healthcare industry exemplifies direct service processes. For example, Healthcare inputs are doctors, nurses, hospitals, medical supplies, equipment, and laboratories. The processes of conversion are examinations, surgeries, monitoring and aftercare, medication, and therapy. The output is healthy patients through preventive or corrective medical activities.

According to Hitt et al. (2012) and Upton (2012), financial decisions are critical to the attainment of domestic and global business enterprise goals. Financial decisions include managing financing requirements such as short and long-term decisions, tax positions, investments in information and process technology, financial stakeholder relationships, inflation and exchange rates, cost of capital, investment risk structure, cost of implementation of investment projects, mergers and acquisitions, demergers, sourcing, growth strategies, divestments, capital rationing, and working capital. When formulating critical financial decisions, leaders must take into account various possible constraints

(Hitt et al., 2012; Upton, 2012). These constraints develop from the interrelationships between investment choices, financing and dividends, impact of regulations, cost of operations, growth into domestic and foreign markets, and diversification of product and service portfolios. Control systems are essential to formulating sound financial decisions. Without control systems evaluation of current performance is not accurately monitored because elements of internal and external factors are not identified. There is also the risk of uninformed financial forecasts due to unforeseen elements of economic and business factors ineffectively taken into account.

# **Summary**

In conclusion, the literature on critical decisions reveals several concepts and practices. Critical decisions, of a strategic, operational, and administrative nature, drive the success of the business enterprise. Critical decisions are those that are concerned with both internal and external affairs of the organization. These decisions influence strategy formation and implementation regarding organizational change, utilization of newer technology, information systems, vertical integration, process technology, facility utilization, supply chain management, knowledge management, product and service diversification, competitive positioning and marketing presence, global expansion, rules, regulations, and policys. Examples of these decisions involve determining what markets the organization should and should not enter or remain, defining vision, mission, and values, and capitalizing on the opportunities of tomorrow.

Other key points include critical decisions are more risky, affect more stakeholders, commit more resources, and have wider-ranging consequences in both

space and time than do noncritical decisions. Critical decisions are required in executing specific strategies in developing specific capabilities called competitive dimensions such as cost, quality, time, availability, and flexibility. Critical decision makers can take an organization to a desired state, such as through the selection of products and services, and market diversification (Hitt et al., 2012; Schaap, 2012)). Lastly, according to Janczak (2005), critical decisions involve the structuring of organizational design and cultivation of effective cultures.

### Leadership

For the purpose of this study leadership is defined as the ability of a superior to influence the behavior and outlook of enterprise stakeholders by persuading them to follow a particular course of action and achieve a particular future. According to Northouse (2012) leadership is responsible for the strategic vision, mission accomplishment, resource allocations and acquisitions, and internal and external affairs of a business enterprise. Leadership involves formulating strategies that extend beyond enterprise boundaries into the external environment (Goldman, 2012; Northouse, 2012). According to Men (2012) and Ryan (2012), leadership is a symmetrical relationship of influence, where one actor guides or directs the behaviors of others towards a certain goal over a certain period of time. Leadership theorists Bass (2008), Daft (2015), and Northouse (2012) described leadership as a function that employs analytical tools and frameworks that surfaces data required to make critical decisions concerning a firm's vision, direction, and performance to achieve operational excellence.

Leadership is the influential force over routine and nonroutine directives of an business enterprise (Men, 2012; Ryan, 2012). It identifies and develops strategies, structures, and processes that facilitate stakeholders achieving the goals of the firm.

According to Denis et al. (2011), leadership is consequential for the success of a business and the wellbeing of its stakeholders. According to leaderthip theorist Yukl (2012), leadership is the ability to see the possibilities and the realities of any given situation.

Leadership is the driving force behind the collective pursuits of a business enterprise (Hughes et al., 2014; Yukl, 2011). Leadership creates shared vision by involving key stakeholders in building, articulating, and implementing a vision. Another dynamic of leadership is inspiring stakeholders to innovative ways of thinking, approaching, and doing things through interaction with various types of stakeholders, experiences, and ideas.

Researchers from a wide variety of academic disciplines have discussed the concept of leadership. Bass (2008) argued that leadership is one of the most studied phenomena in social sciences. Leadership is a complex phenomenon that has been defined and redefined in many theories. According to Bass (2008) and Northouse (2012), there are theories of leadership concerned with leadership of a business enterprise or personal styles such as transformational, transactional, visionary, servant, level five and charismatic. According to Daft (2015) and Northouse (2012) leadership theories are concerned with the evolution of the business as a whole, including its changing aims and capabilities.

The roles and responsibilities of leadership make it an indispensable function that facilitates business efficiency, effectiveness, and excellence. Leadership executives are responsible for creating and communicating clear direction for the firm's present and future, for implementing changes to structures and processes, and for evaluating critical success factors (Lord, Hannan, & Jennings, 2011). According to Bass (2008) and Northouse (2012), the foremost responsibility of a leader is formulating a vision for a business enterprise and then building the capacity of realizing the vision. Leaders are responsible for executing high-impact strategy in mission-driven firms. Leaders look within and beyond the organization to determine strategic direction. According to Bass (2008), the function of the leadership team extends beyond driving operational excellence; it requires an appreciation of the external environment, managing the future, constantly seeking innovation, establishing and reestablishing culture, and leading change.

Leaders establishe clear standards and performance expectations for a business enterprise. Through inspiration and inducement it drives a firm to achieve tasks and duties to a level of excellence (Daft, 2015; Northouse, 2012). According to leadership theorist Northouse (2012), leaders align structure, vision, resources, and change. This implies communicating direction to those who can create coalitions that understand the vision and are committed to its achievement. Through the influence of the leadership team, stakeholders adequately capture and support the direction of the business enterprise (Hughes et al., 2014; Yukl, 2011). This influence evolves through continuous

collaboration and dialogue with leadership that results in inspiring and enforcing accountability of strategic accomplishments.

According to organizational leadership theorists Bass (2008) and Daft (2015), leaders are responsible for the performance of firms and influences several hundred to thousands of stakeholders. It establishes organizational structure, allocate resources, and communicate strategic vision. Leader performed in unpredictable environments of highly complex problems that affect and are affected by events and organizations external of its control. Daft (2015) proposed that one critical function of the leadership team, is to operate in short response times. There are those critical situations that require leaders to facilitate processing information quickly; developing and accessing alternatives based on incomplete data, and making critical decisions within shorten timespans while generating decisional support. A leader's risk propensity contributes both negatively and positively in this decision cycle.

Leadership is the mobilization of stakeholders in a way that unleashes the potential for excellence in performance at all levels of the business and associated external stakeholders. It ensures everyone understands the organization's vision, mission, values, goals, objectives, and plans. Leaders foster an environment where desired behaviors and results emerge naturally (Bass, 2008; Daft, 2015). It facilitates collective achievement; nothing gets done without deep commitment and coordinated action from a diverse set of stakeholders. According to Northouse (2012), connecting with and involving stakeholders in the formulation and implementation of enterprise strategies is a

critical facet of leadership. In order to achieve high performance, leadership must facilitate collective activities.

Lunenberg (2011) and Wang and Shaver (2014) proposed that one role of leadership is the ability to build and maintain a business enterprise that performs well compared to the competition. According to Sakas et al. (2014) and Wilburn and Wilburn (2011), sustainable competitive advantage is a critical responsibility of leadership. A business enterprise external environment consists of competitors, social, economic, political, legal, and monetary systems. Hannigan et al. (2015) stated that leaders evaluate the impact and influence of the key external factors affecting business strategies based on the needs of the firm leadership develops strategic approaches critical to sustaining and or gaining competitive advantages.

According to Sakas et al. (2014), leaders creates and evaluates strategic processes. These authors further add leaders are responsible for strategy deployment and follow up evaluation. Strategic positioning of the business enterprise is critical for successful operations. Leaders evaluate strategic options and creates roles and responsibilities for senior management teams and employees. Leaders evaluate the tools and techniques used in strategy formulation. Hitt et al. (2012) proposed that through strategic analysis, leadership implements appropriate changes to product portfolios and business units to better align with the firm's strategic goals. It is this role that leads to producing and sustaining the organization's value chain.

Leading change is a critical to the success of an enterprise. Leadership is responsible and accountable for all facets of change processes. According to Manduca

(2012) and Northouse (2012), leaders continuously develop and implements change initiatives. Effective implementation of changes requires highly inclusive approaches. The ability for change initiatives to thrive and reach sustainability is dependent of the stewardship of leadership. Leaders formulate critical strategies that include goals and objectives that direct change initiatives. According to Northouse (2012) and Slattery (2013), leaders assess critical enterprise readiness for change that facilitates change sustainability. Leaders provide clarity regarding delegated authority and structure for producing change, while redesigning structure and reinforcing that authority as needed.

According to Northouse (2012) and Yukl (2012), leaders establishe appropriate business control measures and contingencies. Control measures are utilized to monitor processes of business performance. Contingencies are developed for alternative purposes when operational performance is lower than expectations. Monitoring performance activities through a systemic process is essential for controlling quality and waste in enterprise wide functions. It is through control measures leaders assess the state of unit or organizational performance and moves to implement contingencies when necessary to produce positive results.

Leaders are responsible for strategic and efficient usage of information systems (Tamm et al., 2014), Leaders evaluate the strategic and competitive impact of information systems in order to achieve and sustain high performance. Leaders direct changes to information systems appropriate to the organization's strategic environment. It is essential proper investments are made to the firm's information systems platform.

According to Engel et al. (2015), leaders develop strategies for knowledge management

and information technology that support enterprise critical objectives. Firm learning and knowledge management are essential competitive advantages when utilized effectively. Firm learning and knowledge management have been proposed as fundamentally critical processes and integral internal sustainable competitive advantages of the future (Engel et al., 2015),

# **Summary**

In conclusion, the literature on leadership reveals several points. The main point is that leadership directly affects the nature and success of a business enterprise. According to leadership theorist Bass (2008), leadership is the key to the success of any firm. It is often regarded as the single most critical factor in the success or failure of a business enterprise. Leadership has always been the key differentiator between successful and unsuccessful businesses (Bass, 2008; Daft, 2015; Northouse, 2012). The concept of leadership is relevant to any function that drives excellence in business activities. In firms without sufficient strategic direction, the probability of mistakes increases and the probability of success decreases (Hitt et al. 2012; Wilburn & Wilburn, 2011).

Other key points are leadership is responsible for framing enterprise success.

According to Yukl (2012), leaders create and articulate to stakeholders what success looks like for a firm. Leaders are the driving force in achieving business success. Leaders focuse on the relevance of accomplishing missions and acquiring resources that drive operational excellence (Magretta, 2012; Slack, 2015). Leadership involves discovering new and effective ways to create even greater opportunities for growth and success for the firm through change strategies. Implementing successful change initiatives with the

appropriate resources and strategies is critical to a firm's survival. Lastly, business leadership is responsible for developing and implementing alternative solutions to problems of inferior performance whenever necessary.

# **Delegation of Authority**

According to Harris and Raviv (2005), delegation is an authoritative decision that transfers decision making authority away from a leader to subordinate managers and employees. Delegation of authority is the practice of transferring proper authority to complete task assignments (Hogue, 2011). It is the assignment of specified authority to execute delegated activities. This transfer of authority authorizes subordinate managers and employees to make critical decisions in performance of business tasks (Kimemia, 2011). Firms are continuously engaged in critical decision related activities, such as research, development, manufacturing, marketing, sales, or service. Also, they often are in multiple industries and markets, such as multiple regions, products, or segments. To effectively achieve firm activities leadership delegates critical decision authority to selected subordinate managers and employees. However, leadership remains accountable for the ultimate outcome regardless of decision making authority granted.

According to Sengul et al. (2012), delegation of authority itself is a two-step dimensional process. The first dimension of delegating authority involves the selection of subordinate managers or employees and the specific criteria for selection. Sengul et al. (2012) argued the strategic direction of a enterprise plays a large role in the delegation decision process of senior leadership. The second dimension of delegating authority involves the allocation of decision making rights. The level of authority granted takes on

greater importance when many critical decisions are, of necessity, pushed down in the organization rather than retained by leadership. The central aspect of delegating decisional authority is its design, in particular to whom the decisions will be delegated, and under which organizational structure and with what extent of authority the delegate will operate (Sengul et al., 2012).

According to delegation theorist Yukl (2012), delegation of authority is a complex, multifaceted process that includes assigning important new tasks to subordinates, giving subordinates responsibility for decisions formerly handled by leaders, and increasing the amount of latitude and discretion allowed to subordinates in how they do their work, including the authority to make critical decisions without prior approval. Delegation of authority is widely acknowledged to be an essential dynamic of effective leadership and when thoroughly utilized provides a number of benefits for leadership, subordinate managers and employees, and the organization (Chevrier & Viegas-Pires, 2013; Yukl, 2012). When utilized competently, delegation of authority improves speed, reduces leader overload, enriches both job scope and job satisfaction, increases intrinsic motivation, and provides professional development.

Delegation of authority is a leader's leverage. It's the leverage by which leaders achieve organizational results while utilizing their time effectively and efficiently.

According to Hoque (2011), delegation of authority provides leverage that enables leaders to accomplish critical goals through stakeholders, and in effective delegation of authority, the leader utilizes both prescriptive methodologies as well as personal experience and environemtnal knowledge. The process of delegation of authority is also

called the *life blood* of a business (Bass, 2008). Lee (2010) argued that advantages of effective transfer of authority are increased flexibility, increased productivity, increased stakeholder commitment, effective critical decisions outcomes, higher employee morale, and improved performance. Delegating greater authority to subordinate managers and employees creates a more horizontal or flatter business structure that usually acts to shorten business response times.

Authority is the power to influence or direct an action of others. For example, senior leadership has the authority to influence or direct the actions of their subordinate managers and employees. According to delegation theorist Lee (2010), when leaders delegate decision making authority they provide subordinate managers and employees the necessary power to complete tasks. Delegation of authority is the act of giving appropriate decision making power given to subordinate managers and employees. Delegated authority transfers power and permission to make decisions within the scope and boundaries of the task assignment and authority assigned. In the case of critical decision making authority, said boundaries and scope reflect the firm's vision, high performance factors, and targeted outcomes. Without appropriate authority subordinate managers and employees tasked with decision making situations lack power and permission to completely execute and exhaust all options regarding delegated tasks.

According to Bass (2008), delegating appropriate decision making authority improves the rate of independent accomplishments by subordinate managers and employees.

Harris and Raviv (2005) proposed that delegated authority allows a subordinate to make critical decisions, i.e. it is a shift of critical decision-making authority from one

level to another. Allocation of authority translates to leadership conferring upon subordinate managers and employees the right and power to act, to utilize specific range of resources, and to make decisions within predetermined or prescribed limits. Granting of authority is highly effective when clarity is provided about its usage and limits (Kimemia, 2011). It's essential for leadership to provide clear instructions and guidance as to the scope, expectations, and level of authority granted for the effective completion of delegated tasks.

Bass (2008) and Northouse (2012), argued authority is the legitimate right or power to make decisions and direct others to perform assignments or reframe from executing an activity. This transferred power includes the right to take disciplinary action in the event of a refusal to carry out a delegated task, legitimate request, or address unethical and unlawful activity. Delegation of authority is essential to a business enterprise's development and operations. Delegation of authority is the *energy flow* of effective leadership into the business enterprise.

#### **Trust & Risk**

Entrusting others with authority to achieve delegated assignments is a crucial dynamic of effective delegation. According to leadership theorist Bass (2008), leaders become hesitate to delegate authority for critical decision making assignments that accomplish high performance goals for various reasons. Typically, at the base of their hesitation is an absence of trust that subordinate managers and employees will complete tasks while meeting or exceeding their expectations. According to Tan and Lim (2009) trust is the investment one places in a subordinate. Bass (2008) proposed one delegating

hesitancy is the subordinate manager or employee's critical decision outcome will be unsuccessful in equaling or exceeding the criteria and expectations commensurate with high performance. Another hesitancy regarding delegation of critical decision making authority is the competency level of their subordinates managers and employees. The inabilities of both entities leads to a higher probability of marginal or inferior results that is too risky for leaders with low risk propensities to pursue. Harris and Raviv (2005) added hesitancy for delegating of authority to manufacture critical decisions is a lack of trust that subordinates (managers or employees) will remain responsible and committed to high performance results. Leaders in this risk category possess minimal confidence and faith that delegated authority for critical decision making assignments will be completed on time and within scope and boundary parameters. The lack of trust provides for limited faith. According to Tichy and Cardwell (2004), one final hesitancy concerns possible employee and group push back. Leaders in this risk category are distressed that subordinate managers and employees lack the conviction to embrace authority delegated to formulate critical decisions. This mentality leads to a refusal to delegate authority, thus increasing their workload through personally executing the critical decision making task.

## **Summary**

In conclusion, the literature on delegation of authority reveals several basic points. The main point is delegation of authority is a decisive means in achieving business goals (Lee, 2010). Delegation of authority directly affects the nature and success of a business enterprise. Delegation of authority is the act of empowering subordinate managers and employees to make critical decisions (Bass, 2008; Daft, 2015; Northouse,

2012). When leaders delegate authority, they entrust others with authority to achieve specified results. When leaders delegate authority they become vulnerable to trusted employees for achievement of specified results. In the process of delegation, authority is distributed throughout various subordinate levels of the firm, flowing downward from the source of authority atop of the business enterprise. In addition, delegation of authority means transferring sufficient power to subordinate managers and employees so they can perform within prescribed limits.

Other key points are delegation of authority describes a category of leadership behavior that entails assigning new responsibilities to subordinate managers and employees and appropriate authority to carry out task assignments. Delegating greater authority to subordinate managers and employees creates a more horizontal or flatter business structure with fewer management layers and usually acts to shorten response times. Delegation of authority is empowering subordinate managers and employees to take responsibility for certain activities (Bass, 2008); Bass's (2008) conclusions are aligned with the studies of delegation theorists Yukl (2012) and Chevrier & Viegas-Pires (2013). Chevrier & Viegas-Pires (2013) and Yukl (2012) informed effective delegation of authority facilitates subordinate managers and employees in formulating critical decisions within specific boundaries set by leadership or policies. Effective leadership successfully utilizes delegation of authority to achieve critical goals. An outcome of a poorly achieved or executed critical decision leads to ineffective utilization of firm resources and temporary alters the direction and progress of it; outcomes that could take months to years to recover from.

### **Risk Propensity**

For the purpose of this study risk propensity is defined as an individual's propensity to take or avoid risks. A leader's risk propensity may have significant impact on delegating critical decision making authority under conditions of high consequence and uncertainty. For the purpose of the study risk must also be defined to facilitate understanding risk propensity. For the purposes of this study, risk is the uncertainty of outcomes. According to risk theorist O'Neill (2001) risk is the deviation of one or more results of one or more future events from an expected value or outcome. Technically, the value of those results may be positive or negative. Uncertainty in environmental forces, project failures, and unforeseeable accidents affect the probabilities of risk. During times of high risk alternatives individual risk preferences and values affect the leadership that emerges. Degrees of risk go hand and hand with degrees of success and failure.

According to risk theorist Renn (1998), risk has always been part of human existence. The field of risk research started as early as when human beings started to reflect the possibility of their own death and contemplated actions to avoid dangerous situations (Renn, 1998). Risk is therefore the possibility that of an undesirable state of reality. According to Hancer et al. (2009), risk is the degree of uncertainty and potential loss which may follow from a given behavior or set of behaviors. Decision theorist Riabacke (2006) stated all risks are unequal and there will be those situations where the degree of uncertainty is unknown. During these decision situations an individual's risk propensity determines the degree of risk they will assume.

O'Neill (2001) and Riabacke (2006) argued that risk propensity is a character trait, i.e., as determined by the leader's personality rather than the particular situation being faced. O'Neill (2001) illustrated this position with an example of gamblers to further explain risk propensity phenomena. He argued that someone who prefers to gamble over a probabilities face value is risk-seeking (high risk propensity), and choosing the face value means that the party is risk-averse (low risk propensity).

O'Neill's (2001) risk propensity explanation illustrated the gambler's face value in a crucial way. A risk-averse person seeks a sure thing rather than gamble with the odds. A risk seeking individual seeks the odds in association with a winning payoff rather than look for a sure thing.

According to Keil et al. (2000), a leader's propensity to take or avoid risks may have a significant impact on determining a course of action when faced with conditions of risk and uncertainty. Keil et al. (2000) argued it has been commonly observed individuals differ in their willingness to take risks, but there is disagreement about the nature of individual risk taking, the determents of selecting a course of action, and the impact it has on leading a decision process. One possibility is risk propensity is a general personality trait which causes leaders to demonstrate consistent risk-seeking or risk-averse tendencies across a variety of situations. Another possibility is leaders have a general risk propensity which guides their decision-making under high conditions of risk or uncertainty. An additional possibility is risk propensity is a situational-specific variable, meaning a leader's risk propensity will not fluctuates per business impact of every challenge or opportunity. A large number of researchers have found no evidence of

a general risk propensity across situations. Rather, the bulk of the evidence shows more support for the importance of situational factors than support for the notion of risk-taking propensity as a stable trait (Keil et al., 2000).

According to O'Neill (2001), decision theorists have explained with uncertainty comes risk. Riabacke (2006) argued that decision making under uncertainty is different from making risky decisions. According to this view, the term risk is associated only with situations in which the objective probability distribution of various possible outcomes is known; all other situations are to be treated as decision making under uncertainty.

Contemporary decision theory argues, however, that a subjective probability distribution can be constructed. Thus, as long as the possibility of more than one outcome exists, the decision making situation must be regarded as involving both uncertainty and risk.

Alternatively stated, to be effective, leaders in charge of more uncertain task situations should be willing to take greater risks (O'Neil, 2001).

Attitude toward risk, a taste for it or an aversion to it, is an attractive way to explain risk taking is decision situations as the formulation and selection of alternatives links to psychological conceptions of choice. Psychological of choice portrays leaders as calculating goal-seekers that facilitates different decision-making styles. O'Neill (2001) argued that risk propensity varies across significantly dissimilar decision contexts in that decision making captures the individual leader's willingness to take risk. A study by Hancer et al. (2009) suggested risk taking is a major dimension which has been linked both intuitively and experimentally with entrepreneurs having high risk taking propensities. The authors reveal risk taking is too often assessed in the literature on

entrepreneurship by comparing entrepreneurs to self-employed workers rather than leaders making risky decisions linked to their risk preferences. The literature states the main difference between an entrepreneur and a self-employed individual is the propensity of risk levels. The entrepreneur is willing to take risks the self-employed individual is not (Hancer et al., 2009).

Determining risk is crucial because occasionally leaders have to take calculated and uncalculated risk using the limited information and time windows available to them. According to leadership theorist Bass (2008), risk seekers are more influential in critical decision making situations than risk avoiders. Bass (2008) observed high risk takers were more persuasive in problem solving than low risk takers. High risk takers have a higher tolerance for ambiguity than low risk takers. Bass (2008) emphasized the generalist executive must be prepared to take such risks if he or she is to take the lead in the perilous, problematic and participatory climate for strategic direction in today's competitive world.

Risk taking has been the concern of researchers regarding decision-making tendencies in application of prospect and utility theories. According to the prospect theory, a decision maker compares the possible outcomes with some reference point before committing to an alternative (O'Neill, 2001; Tversky & Kahneman, 1992). The reference point often depends on factors that a typical utility theory application would call irrelevant, such as how the decision is framed in the decision maker's mind. A "value," which the prospect theory's analogue for an outcome's utility, is attached to each degree of change from the reference point, such as gaining \$5 or losing \$10. Further

postulates are that the loss side of the value function is steeper than its gain side and that sensitivity to losses or gains marginally decreases with the amount lost or gained (O'Neill, 2001; Tversky & Kahneman, 1992).

In defining and measuring individual risk taking the prospect theory is descriptive rather than prescriptive as it illustrates several phenomena observed in experiments and in life. On the other hand, it is less specific than utility theory in that it lacks a good account of how someone sets a risk reference point, and it does not predict well for decisions that mix gains and losses (O'Neill, 2001). The prospect theory is often presented as a psychological alternative to the rationalism of utility theory. Prospect theory studies have been more empirically-based than utility theory's, and the deeper risk researchers have analyzed historical cases, the more they have been criticized on conceptual grounds and the more ambivalence has arisen about the applicability of the theory (O'Neill, 2001). Prospect theorists reservations has been stated as involving the practical issue of finding leaders' decision parameters, but this misidentifies the problem.

Assigning risk requires a standard; the rejected course of action. According to O'Neill (2001), when measuring risk values a common approach is to describe an historical case involving a leader choosing between two courses, one with a predictable outcome and the other with an uncertain one. This argument involves interpreting the sure choice as showing risk aversion and the uncertain probabilities choice as risk acceptance. If a decision maker selects a different road, this illustrates the opposite risk acceptance. It might seem obvious that opting for the uncertainty shows risk acceptance and vice versa, but utility theory and prospect theory argue against this position. O'Neill

(2001) pointed out the choice with the higher expected utility (or in prospect theory, the higher weighted value) will be selected, whether the decision maker is averse or acceptant of risk. For a risk averter this may be the uncertain choice and for a risk seeker it may be the certain choice; in either case the determining factor is the expected utility or in prospect theory the weighted value.

Studies by Gollier et al. (2013) and Spulick (2015) defined a decision-maker as risk-averse if he/she tends to avoid choices with unclear probabilities in favor of those with specified probability values, like a coin with a known rate of coming up heads. A decision maker has an unclear probability if he/she possesses a wide probability distribution over the true probability value, so it's common the risk-averse are those that prefer low variance in their distributions over the probability of the important event. A study by Shapira (1995) reported the association between risk propensity and traits like openness, sensation seeking, impulsiveness, age, and position in a company are attributes of the person rather than the situation. In contrast, O'Neill (2001) argued that risk propensity depends on how the decision is stated, so it cannot be intrinsic to the person. This is in line with the economic definition of risk, which is risk is largely dependent on the situations decision makers are presented with, even on arbitrary aspects of how the decision is stated, therefore taking risk cannot be seen as a personality trait.

Leadership and senior management teams (SMT) are constantly confronted with the need to answer one key question: how much risk is too much risk? How much risk to take is central in determining risky the course of action. This deceptively simple question is remains very complex to answer. Assumed risk depends on a wide range of related and connected factors, some of which are internal to the decision-makers as individuals and groups; and others which exist externally and independently of the decision makers. In addition, some factors are influenced or determined by risk preferences of additional decision makers in the process, whereas other factors exist independent of human choice. The phenomena of assumed risk has led in the past decade an emergent and extensive interest in the theory of risk propensities and its influence on organizational decision-making at all levels ranging from strategic to administrative.

#### **Trust & Risk**

Two articles published in the mid-to-late 1990s attempted to clarify some prior research on trust and its association with risk. Mayer et al. (1995) defined trust as the willingness of a trustor to be vulnerable to the actions of a trustee based on the expectation that the trustee will perform a particular action. Similarly, Rousseau, Sitkin, Burt, and Camerer (1998) defined trust as a psychological state comprising the intentions to accept vulnerability based on positive expectations of the actions of the trustee. Both definitions have two primary components. One component is the intention to accept vulnerability, and the other component is the outlook of positive expectations.

According to Tan and Lim (2009) and Zhang and Bartol (2010), trust is an expectation of the trusting party that the trusted party will perform a particular action in a specified manner. Tan and Lim's (2009) research focused on one broad outcome of trust: risk taking. The authors posit that several scholars have equated trusting with behaviors corresponding with risk taking. The correlation between trusting and risk taking reflects the correlation between a willingness to be vulnerable and actually becoming vulnerable.

Risk taking therefore stands as one of the most proximal behavioral outcomes or expressions of trust (Tan & Lim, 2009).

### **Summary**

In conclusion, the literature on risk propensity reveals several basic points. The main point is risk propensity is an internal factor (i.e. it is held within people and can only be seen through external expressions or behaviors). Risk propensity is a tendency dependent of human choice. Risk propensity exists in relation to an external situation which is perceived as both risky and important, and which demands some sort of response by individuals and groups. As a result the situation triggers a risk response.

Other key points are tasks with moderate risk are satisfying to those who have a great need to achieve. A risk-free task will lack challenge and a highly risk task harbors the likelihood of failure. However, a higher level of risk failure will be entertained if the risk is inherently interesting. Risk propensity indicates a willingness to take risk and shows a tolerance for failure (Hancer et al., 2009). Trust directly affects the willingness to take risks in individuals and groups. A willingness to trust is closely associated with a willingness to take risks. What's common in risk-taking behaviors is that trusting leaders maintain longer feedback time spans in contrast to non-trusting leaders, who in turn press for quick solutions and immediate feedback. Clearly, a willingness to trust others is required for meaningful delegation of authority to subordinate managers and employees. Leaders with a high risk propensity and high trust relationships delegate more commonly than those with low risk propensity and low trust relationships.

Chapter 3 presents the specific research design used in this dissertation. An explanation of population and sample, data collection, and statistical analysis is provided. Data is gathered from electronic survey questionnaires of 102 leaders from various industries.

### Chapter 3: Research Method

#### Introduction

The following chapter provides an overview of the research methodology and design that is utilized to test the hypotheses outlined in Chapter 1. The aim of this study is to provide evidence of the influence risk propensity has on leaders' delegation of critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees, provide support to the existing body of knowledge with regard to leaders' delegation of critical decision making authority, and add another dimension to the understanding of delegating critical decision making authority leadership phenomena, specifically in the assignment of delegating critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees based on specific levels of risk propensities. This study investigates whether specific levels of risk propensity play a significant role in a leader's delegation of critical decision making authority.

This chapter describes the research methodology applied to the research model to test the supportability of the hypotheses. A one group cross-section, correlational design is utilize to test the hypotheses. This chapter also describes the research design, population and sample from which the data is obtained, the survey questionnaire that is utilize to generate the data, and the procedures that is utilize in the analysis of the data. Finally, data collection collected by electronic data sampling and data analysis imported into SPSS software application for analysis are documented.

### **Research Design**

Research methodology is the terminology that represents how scientist and researchers seek knowledge about worldly phenomena. Research methodology is the system of methods followed in a particular discipline. The selected research methodology becomes the approach for the classification, gathering, and measurement of sample data to be studied. This researcher brings his own beliefs and attitudes based on past experience in business enterprises and leadership phenomena. This researcher believes in positivist detached approach to conducting research in the area of leadership to give an objective justification for causes of changes in the leadership phenomenon using cross-sectional research designs to minimize errors and bias. Consequently, quantitative approach will be used in this study. The research model is operationalized using theoretical constructs in a latent variable model. The following sections describe the motivation and justification for using this approach.

This researcher utilizes survey methodology as the research design and a software statistical package, SPSS, as the statistical procedure in this study to test the hypotheses. Leaders who are responsible for critical decision formulations are the unit of analysis in this study. This research is a quantitative study using a one group measurement cross-sectional correlational design completed through the use of an electronic survey questionnaire. This study is concerned with assessing relationship among the variables of study: critical decisions, leadership, delegation of authority, and risk propensity. Analyses will be made to independent variables leadership, critical decision and risk propensity and its effect on the dependent variable delegation of authority. The research sought to

establish a cause-effect relationship. Reasons for choosing a cross-sectional, correlational design is the hypotheses of this dissertation require a descriptive study to establish correlation between dependent and independent variables.

Cross-sectional, correlational design is perhaps the most predominant employed in the social sciences and is most identified with survey research design. It is used to structure research processes for eliciting useful information particularly where data must be collected from a defined population to describe the present condition of the population's use of the variables under study (Creswell, 2013). Cross-sectional correlational designs have been widely used in the study of leadership. Studies of styles, behaviors, and skills have been analyzed in correlation studies since the 1960s (Creswell, 2013).

Leadership research has employed a vast variety of research designs, within both quantitative and qualitative methodologies. Depending on the research question, numerous methods can be utilized. For researching leadership constructs within closed and open systems, quantitative designs such as case studies and survey questionnaire provide benefits in this type of research. Qualitative designs provide a descriptive window of a phenomenon without direct cause and effect analysis. Survey research, although widely used in social science (Creswell, 2013), gathers data of individuals' overall beliefs about subjects but this form does not provide a direct cause and effect relationships between variables.

Risk propensity research has been the subject of both theoretical and empirical investigation. A number of theories and empirical studies on risk propensity have been

published, but with little consensus about its conceptualization and measurement of risk propensity (Nicholson et al., 2005). The concept of risk propensity has important implications for the theoretical modeling of risk behavior and for practical insights into the motives underlying individual choices about engaging in risk taking situations (Nicholson et al., 2005).

A literature review for studies addressing delegation of critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees by leaders with various risk propensities did not yield a large outcome. There are limited studies that researched the relationship between specific levels of risk propensity and leadership delegation behaviors between the 1960s and now (for example: Adeyemi-Bello, 2001; Das & Joshi, 2007; Macrimmon & Wehrung, 1990). These three delegation studies varied in research designs.

While a qualitative study may provide information on the interaction of leaders and followers, the ability to see whether specific levels of risk propensity has an impact on delegating critical decision authority can be completed efficiently through quantitative non-experimental cross-sectional observations and statistics. Qualitative design would not provide adequate number of samples to objectively describe a relationship between various levels of risk propensity and delegation of critical decision making authority by leaders.

By measuring the independent variable risk propensity, a robust outline can be made of the interrelationship of risk propensity and its influence on delegation of critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees by leaders. The main

subject of this dissertation posits that there is a relationship between various levels of risk propensity and delegation of critical decision making authority by leaders.

This study employs a cross-sectional, correlational design method to address the research question. Cross-sectional designs involve a collection of data at one point in time (Creswell, 2013). As such, they are useful for describing relationships among phenomena at a fixed point in time. Cross-sectional studies can be designed so that phenomena developing overtime can be inferred; that is, a phenomenon is measure at the same time in subjects at several levels development and the results inferred to demonstrate change over time. For this study data is collected in a confidential setting at this researcher's collection center. The primary advantages of cross-sectional designs are that they are practical. The possibility that there will be at least one rival hypotheses for any observed difference found is a major disadvantage.

# **Population, Sample and Sampling Procedure**

The population for this study is leaders with critical decision making responsibility in business enterprises including commercial aviation, investing & banking, information systems, defense systems, manufacturing & production, insurance, shipping, railways, higher education, energy, and technology located in the United States. Business enterprises in these industries are large enough to designate executives of key departments and functional areas. These enterprises operate in an environment of large revenues, heavy regulations and government oversight, fierce external pressures and competition in which requires senior leadership to execute critical decisions.

Senior positions within business enterprises are most commonly titled as Chief Executive Officers, Chief Financial Officers, Chief Operations Officers, Comptrollers, Chief Technology Officers, Production Managers, Marketing Managers, and Research and Development Managers. Each member is responsible for ensuring high performance in their respective span of control. Executives formulate critical decisions in pursuit of achieving organizational goals. For example, critical decisions regarding mergers and acquisitions, asset and resource allocations, product and service diversification, workforce outsourcing and offshoring, and corporate governance are formulated in pursuit of accomplishing organizational missions.

There is no unique answer to the sample size determination in studying the affect risk propensity has on delegating critical decision making authority. This researcher utilized a G Power3 statistical program (Faul, Erdfelder, Lang, & Buchner, 2007) in conducting power analysis to determine a target sample for the study. No more than three independent variables will be utilize in any given prediction equation. Therefore, three predictors with an alpha set at 0.05, power set at .91, and effect size set at 0.15 as the parameter for the analysis, results in a required sample size at N=100. The confidence level to be used for this study is 95% with an allowable margin of error of 5% (A = .05).

The participants considered for this study are vice presidents and above in the executive management ranks of business enterprises in directors, senior directors, vice presidents, senior vice presidents, general managers, chief executive officers, chief financial officers, chief marketing officers to be surveyed. Generally these potential respondents do not respond to survey requests. Some of these respondents have their

secretaries or special assistants apply email filters to minimize their incoming email.

These respondent characteristics have to be taken into account in determining the number of requests to be sent to receive the appropriate number of completed survey responses for a full analysis. This researcher predicts an effective return rate, usable responses, of 33%.

This researcher followed Dillman's (2014) approach to develop and administer the questionnaire. All variables of interest is measured in two ways. The respondents' perceptual evaluation of the risk propensity instrument is measured on a five-point Likert-type scale, which are anchored by 1 (Strongly Disagree) and 5 (Strongly Agree). The respondents' perceptual evaluation of delegating critical decision making authority is measured on a ten-point scale, which are anchored by 1 (Strongly Disagree) and 10 (Strongly Agree). The survey and data collection is delimited to business enterprises and respondents located in North America. The measurement items is developed in English and the questionnaire is conducted in English as well. I administered questionnaires to 1040 leaders whose email addresses were obtained from Cint research online business directory database of 9000 leader participants.

Emails requests were sent to directors, senior directors, vice presidents, senior vice presidents, general managers, chief executive officers, chief financial officers, chief marketing officers to participate in this researcher's survey voluntarily. In the email request this researcher stated that all information collected is confidential. The questionnaire will be made available online through the online survey website of

http://www.surveymonkey.com. As an incentive to increase the response rate, this researcher enticed the participants with an executive summary of the research results.

Critical leadership for this study involves leaders expressing the strategic vision for their organizations, or a part of their organizations, and motivating and persuading stakeholders to acquire that vision. This direction and influence includes giving purpose and meaning to a firm through envisioning and creating a positive future. A letter of intent was given to each participant before the questionnaire was taken. Upon receipt of the letter of intent participants were given directions for completing the questionnaire as well as restating the confidentiality of their responses. For each questionnaire the sequence of events is identical.

#### **Measures**

The following section presents the operationalization of the three major variable constructs of the theoretical model. This researcher utilize executives in organizations as subjects in the study. Survey questionnaire sampling is utilize to draw a sample. The process of questionnaire sampling has been used in numerous studies. Leadership samples from organizations provide a ready source of participants for research. The sampling frame is leaders various risk propensity profiles. The risk propensity instrument was developed by risk propensity theorist Zalaskiewicz (2001). All of the items in the delegation of critical decision making authority were adapted from various published books, articles and studies which make up the critical decision and delegation of authority literature review in Chapter 2. The questionnaires included in Appendix A and Appendix

B were submitted to the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) and approved for this study.

This researcher utilize two instruments to measure the relationship between specific levels of risk propensity and delegation of critical decision making authority to subordinates. The two instruments utilized to collect data for this study are: (a) a Risk Propensity questionnaire, which is used to measure the risk propensity of leaders in a critical decision making role; and (b) a Critical Decision Delegation questionnaire, which is used to measure delegation of critical decision making authority by leaders in a critical decision making role. The critical decision delegation instrument was developed by this researcher to measure the delegation of critical decision making authority to subordinates by leaders with different risk propensities. A copy of both instruments can be found in Appendices A and B.

### **Risk Propensity Measurement**

Part one of this instrument is a risk propensity questionnaire. The risk questionnaire was developed by Zalaskiewicz (2001) and adapted by this researcher to identify levels of risk propensity in leaders in a critical decision making role (see Appendix A). Zalaskiewicz's (2001) risk propensity research was used to formulate measurements of risk propensity levels and behaviors in individuals. For the purpose of this study risk propensity is defined as the degree to which an entity is willing to take chances with respect to the perceived probability of receiving the rewards or losses.

There are sixteen statements of risk propensity designed into the questionnaire.

These items were taken from previous research by Zalaskiewizc (2001) on measuring risk

taking propensity. This questionnaire measures leader's risk taking propensities by means of a 5-point Likert type scale ranging from 1 = strongly agree to 5 = strongly disagree. Cronbuch's alpha was calculated to test the reliability to risk scale. The results showed that the alpha coefficient for the risk scale was 0.70, well above the minimum value of 0.5 as an indication of reliability (Creswell, 2013). Examples of risk items are "if there is a big chance of profit I take very high risks," and "I make risky decisions quickly without an unnecessary waste of time."

### **Critical Decision Delegation Measurement**

Part two of this instrument is a critical decision delegation questionnaire developed by this researcher. This researcher developed this survey questionnaire designed to formulate measurements of specific delegation behaviors of leaders in this dissertation (see Appendix B). For the purpose of this study a critical decision is defined as significant and risky decisions that are concerned with the firm's operating environments, the strategic utilization of resources, the direction of staff, and the standards of enterprise interface between stakeholders. The source of the measurements originated from the Chapter 2 critical decision and leadership literature reviews along with additional sources included in the reference list.

There are 40 statements of critical decisions designed into two subscales of 20 statements each in the questionnaire. The first subscale is Strategic Decisions and the second subscale is Operations and Administrative Decisions. Critical decision items within the assessment were developed from the literature review in Chapter 2. This questionnaire measures delegation of critical decision authority by leader's in an critical

decision making role by means of a 10-point scale ranging from 1 = I leave my subordinates(s) to analyze the situation and let him/her (or them) decided to 10 = I make the decision solely on my own judgment. Examples of critical decision items are "modifying existing products and services," and "pricing decisions for key products and services." This researcher has carefully reviewed and cross-reviewed for face validity.

## **Demographic Measurement**

Background information is collected at the beginning of the questionnaire. The background information will be used to measure the following general demographic: (a) information regarding gender.

## **Instrument Conclusion: Validity and Reliability**

The questionnaires are designed to produce a degree of agreement or disagreement based on individuals' risk propensity. Variables measured by the instrument will include risk propensity, critical decision, and delegation. The delegation of critical decision making authority was developed by this researcher. Validity can be defined as the degree to which a test measures what it is supposed to measure (Creswell, 2013). This researcher has designed a construct of delegation of critical decisions based on the literature and own professional observation. This researcher seeks the Walden IRB to evaluate the construct of critical decisions for validity. The reliability of a research instrument concerns the extent to which the instrument yields the same results on repeated trials. Although unreliability is always present to a certain extent, there will generally be a good deal of consistency in the results of a quality instrument gathered at different times. The tendency toward consistency found in repeated measurements is

referred to as reliability (Creswell, 2013). The researcher's desired outcome is that readers agree that given the same set of data and circumstances the outcomes described make sense. Techniques used to assure reliability include detailing the researcher's position in the research process and creating an audit trail in detail as it emerged during the data collection period. Other reliability factors involve the description in the first chapter of the researcher's assumptions and the detailed choice of sampling method described in this chapter. A thorough research of relevant literature is also incorporated to ground this study.

#### **Data Collection**

Following approval by the University's Institutional Review Board, electronic survey questionnaires were distributed with directions to participants. Electronic questionnaires have been validated throughout the literature. The most common of electronic data collection noted are that electronic data sampling is more enjoyable and comfortable for participants, is less time-intensive for the participant and researcher (e.g., a researcher can gather a large amount of data in a short time-span), it provides participants with a sense of social distance (e.g., participants are more likely to be self-disclosing and less likely to respond in socially desirable ways), provides this researcher with the ability to focus on and recruit a specific sample, is more cost-effective, allows this researcher to observe behaviors without being obtrusive and influential, offers the ease of mining of archival data sources, decreased need for transcribing (which can lead to increased accuracy and decreased bias), and it allows for a degree of automation and experimental control that can be difficult to achieve without the use of computers (e.g.,

computerized instructions administer the surveys and the assignment to participants to various conditions) (Birnbaum, 2004).

The literature highlights the advantages to web-based data collection outweigh the disadvantages, as long as appropriate measures are taken to avoid risks to participants and to inform participants adequately about the nature of the study prior to participation.

According to Singleton and Straits (2005), a self-administered web-based data collection method is efficient and effective when collecting data from a targeted population (p. 244). Specifically, advantages associated with web-based self-administered surveys include convenience, privacy, speed and significant cost savings (Singleton & Straits, 2005, p. 244).

The most common challenges and limits to web-based data collection include decreased control to access risk to participants, decreased ability to monitor/control environment, inability to answer questions about particular items on surveys, the sample may not be representative of the population as a whole, and the anonymous nature of web-based data collection may encourage some to participate for the purpose of damaging data (Birnbaum, 2004). Self-administered surveys have lower response rates ranging from 50% to up to 75%. The response rate for the proposed survey in this study is expected to be considerably lower due to the population comprised of senior level executives who are generally not responsive to surveys. Risk of non-response bias is another weakness of self-administered web-based surveys (Singleton & Straits, 2005). Although this could be a problem due to lack of access to computers, in the present study the population to be surveyed are senior executives which access to computers will not

present a challenge for this population. Therefore, nonresponse bias due to technology is not of significant concern to this researcher given the sophisticated and controlled population group of senior management personnel.

## **Data Analysis**

The original instrument presented in the preceding sections, and shown in Appendix B, is utilize to collect data online at www.surveymonkey.com. Data collected by the www.surveymonkey.com system will be imported into SPSS software application for analysis. The instrument is tested using statistical techniques suggested by Byrne (2001). This ensures validity of the instrument and the model by examining the relationships between the constructs of the proposed conceptual model. Data analysis includes descriptive statistics and analysis of variance for hypotheses testing. Cronbach's Alpha is used to test for reliability and construct validity. The responses is considered ordinal data. The sample is taken from a normally distributed population; therefore, parametric tests will be used. A priori minimum significance level of .05 was selected to provide a 95% confidence level for hypotheses testing.

Using the SPSS software this researcher computed Cronbach's alpha value for each measurement scale in the questionnaire to evaluate the overall reliability of the survey instrument by reviewing its internal consistency (Cronbach & Shavelson, 2004).

The assessment tool contains items pertaining to the constructs used in the definitions of delegation of critical decision making authority and risk propensity. The questionnaire examines the relationship and role of leader's risk propensities and its effect on delegating critical decision making authority. By measuring and comparing the

group of participants risk propensity and delegation of critical decision making authority, analyses of the data determined whether specific levels of risk propensity influences the delegation of critical decision making authority by leaders who hold critical decision making positions. The dependent variable is measured by the mean score for each respective item in the questionnaire. The questionnaire measures the participants' willingness to delegate critical decision making authority through statements measuring their risk propensity.

## **Hypotheses**

Research Question 1: Does risk propensity of leaders affect delegating critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees?

H1-0 ( $\rho$  (R $\infty$ D)  $\geq$  0): Leaders with high risk propensity are equally or more likely to delegate critical decision making authority to followers than those with low risk propensity.

H1-a ( $\rho$  (R $\infty$ D) < 0): Leaders with high risk propensity are less likely to delegate critical decision making to followers than those with low risk propensity.

In mathematical formula,

H1-0:  $\rho(R \infty D) \geq 0$ 

H1-a:  $\rho(R \infty D) < 0$ ,

Where  $\rho$ , R, D,  $\infty$  refers to correlation, leader's risk propensity, leader's delegation of decision making authority, and between the two variables, respectively.

Research Question 2: To what extent does risk propensity of leaders affect delegating critical decision making authority for operational and strategic decisions?

H2-0 ( $\rho$  (R $\infty$ DO)  $\leq \rho$  (R $\infty$ DS)): Leaders with high risk propensity are equally or more likely to delegate critical decision making authority for operational decisions to followers than strategic decisions.

H2-a ( $\rho$  (R $\infty$ DO) >  $\rho$  (R $\infty$ DS)): Leaders with high risk propensity are less likely to delegate critical decision making authority of operational decisions to followers than strategic decisions.

In mathematical formula,

H2-0: 
$$\rho(R \infty DO) \leq \rho(R \infty DS)$$

H2-a: 
$$\rho$$
 (R $\infty$ DO)  $> \rho$  (R $\infty$ DS)

Where DO and DS refers to leader's delegation of decision making authority for operational decisions, and leader's delegation of decision making authority for strategic decisions, respectively.

## Participant's Role and Rights for Participation

All precautions were taken to assure that no participant was adversely affected by this research. Participants were informed of the complete anonymity of this study. Participants were informed of the voluntary nature of the study. Research data will be password-protected. The Web-based survey was hosted on a secure server managed by Survey Monkey www.surveymonkey.com. The researcher and the participants were given dedicated and encrypted access. Only the potential participants who receive an invitation to participate in the survey will be able to access the survey questionnaire. The survey data were downloaded to this researcher's personal computer which is password protected. No one has access to the researcher's personal computer except the researcher.

Data retention began from the date the data is downloaded from Survey Monkey's secure Web server for analysis and will be retained for a period of five years from that date. The data will be completely destroyed from this researcher's personal computer on the date the five year duration is attained. The targeted potential participants for this study are executives of business enterprises and are expected to be over the age of 18. The potential participants were invited through an invitation letter sent via email (see Appendix C) to participate in the proposed study with the explicit understanding that participation in the study is voluntary. Upon acceptance of the invitation and at the onset of the survey, the participants are advised in a consent form (see Appendix D) regarding their right to abandon their participation at any time during the questionnaire completion process. The completion of the survey by a participant is considered as consent acceptance.

Maintaining confidentiality and protecting the rights of each participant are of paramount importance. Adherence to these guidelines were reviewed and certified by the dissertation committee members and by the Walden University's Institutional Review Board.

### **Discussions and Conclusions**

This study explores the influence risk propensity has on delegating critical decision authority to subordinate managers and employees. It is determined that the relationship is significant. In other words, the antecedents explain a large amount of the variance in delegating critical decision authority thereby confirming risk propensity instrumentality. After careful review of relevant literature and available research methods, this researcher decided a quantitative research method using one group cross-sectional design is well-suited to this study. A cross-sectional design allows for causality

to be established and variables to be closely controlled. By developing a new instrument this research can be replicated using other participants. While external validity is harder to establish from this initial non-experimental design, further reproduction will add to its validity. The research methodology selected remains congruent with previous studies while adding depth to the relationship of risk propensity and leadership. The results of this study suggest that the level of risk propensity is a deciding factor in the willingness of senior leaders to delegate critical decision making authority, which can both directly and indirectly affect a firm's performance. In conclusion, this study demonstrates that the theoretical model proposed in this study fits the sample data.

The following chapter presents the results of empirical evidence, descriptive statistics, hypotheses testing, and summary.

#### Chapter 4: Results

#### Introduction

This chapter presents the results and analysis of a correlational study designed to investigate the significance of the role played by risk propensity in predicting a leader's willingness to delegate critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees. Risk propensity was assessed using the Stimulating-Instrumental Risk Inventory (Zaleskiewicz, 2001). Willingness to delegate critical decision-making authority was assessed using a researcher-developed questionnaire. Reliability analyses were performed to test for the internal consistency of the questionnaires. Correlation analyses were used to demonstrate the relationships between variables and test the first hypotheses proposed by the present research. A two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to assess the second hypothesis of the proposed study, which focused on determining if leaders with high risk propensity are less likely to delegate critical decision making authority of operational decisions to followers than strategic decisions. Data collected by electronic data sampling were imported into SPSS software for analysis.

## **Sample Description**

# **Sample and Sampling Procedures**

Survey Monkey, an online survey company, contracted with business leadership research consultant Cint to identify and reach the target population. Cint's database includes 9,000 business owners and partners, presidents, CEOs, chairpersons, and senior management and corporate executives who have agreed to serve as panelists and

prospective participants in survey research. Initially, 1040 contacts were made for participation in the present research. A total of 102 participants (58.8% female, 41.2% male) responded to invitations with an agreement to participate and subsequently completed the surveys yielding a response rate of 9.8%.

#### **Data Collection**

In June 2014, business leaders participated in an online survey through the partnership of Cint research group and Survey Monkey. Online surveys were used in a cross-sectional, correlational design project. All surveys were collected by Survey Monkey.

Every participant received an explanation that the survey aimed to examine their risk propensity levels and its influence on delegating critical decision making authority, and the consent form (see Appendix D) prior to its distribution. Cint research group provided individual links and passwords to enter the survey through Survey Monkey's database portal. Cint research group utilized Survey Monkey's web survey administration tools. The survey was administered electronically via http://surveymonkey.com.

First, participants were asked to rate their risk propensity behavior utilizing a Stimulating-Instrumental Risk Inventory developed by risk propensity theorist Tomasz Zaleskiewicz (2001) (see Appendix A). Second, participants were asked to rate their willingness to delegate critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees utilizing a critical decision delegation instrument (see Appendix B). Upon completion participants exited the survey by selecting the submission option. Upon

submission, their information was stored in a confidential database for which only this researcher and Survey Monkey administrators have access.

The following section provides descriptive statistics, construct validity and reliability indexes of assessment variables.

#### Measures

## Construct Validity & Reliability of Variables

Each scale was evaluated for reliability using Cronbach's alpha (see Table 1) to assess internal consistency. Validity was assessed using correlations (see Table 2) among total scores and sub-scales for each of the instruments used. The risk propensity measurement instrument (Zaleskiewicz, 2001) measured an individual's propensity to take or avoid risks. Risk is the deviation of one or more future events from an expected value or outcome. The Risk Propensity instrument consisted of 16 items. The items were initially assessed using a 5 point scale in which low scores indicated high propensity. Scores were recoded such that higher scores reflect higher risk propensity for ease of interpretation. Total risk propensity was calculated using the average of the 16 scale items. Additionally, subscale scores for stimulating risk taking and instrumental risk taking were computed based on the average of items specific to each subscale as defined by Zaleskiewicz (2001). As seen in Table 1, Total Risk Propensity and the risk propensity subscales yielded moderately high internal consistency similar to the reliability coefficient of .87 reported by Zaleskiewicz (2001). As seen in Table 2, Total Risk Propensity is highly positively correlated with the stimulating risk taking (r = .94) and instrumental risk taking score (r = .84) providing validation of the construct. The

moderate positive correlation between subscales (r = .59) indicates a significant moderate relationship that suggests some level of uniqueness being represented by each.

Table 1
Integrated Descriptive Statistics Summary Table

Variable	Mean	Std. Dev	Cronbach's Alpha
Total Delegation Decision	6.32	2.56	0.99
Strategic Decisions	6.32	2.54	0.98
Operational & Admin Decisions	6.32	2.66	0.98
Total Risk Propensity	2.98	0.61	0.83
Stimulating Risk Propensity	2.67	.67	0.77
Instrumental Risk Propensity	3.49	.71	0.72

Table 2

Correlations among variables

Variable	Str	Ops Adm	Total Risk	Stim Risk	Inst Risk
Total Delegation Decision (A)	.98*	.99*	.27*	.19	.32*
Strategic Decisions (B)		.94*	.29*	.22*	.33*
Operational & Admin Decisions (C)			.24*	.16	.30*
Total Risk Propensity (D)				.94*	.84*
Stimulating Risk Propensity (E)					.59*
Instrumental Risk Propensity (F)					

<sup>\*</sup>Correlation significantly different than 0 at p < .05

As discussed in Chapter 3, a new questionnaire was developed to assess willingness to delegate critical decision-making authority using items in constructs discussed by Papadakis and Barwise (2002), Janczak (2005), Lee (2010), and Sengul,

Gimeno, and Dail (2012) (see Appendix B). These items measured strategic decision delegation as well as operational and administrative decision delegation that develop the future of the business enterprise, sustain or advance its competitive position, and address critical needs directed at its current and envisioned future state. The 40-item instrument tracking delegation of critical decision-making authority included 20 items relevant to the strategic decision subscale and 20 items relevant to the operational and administrative decisions subscale. Total Delegation was computed using the average of the 40 item scale. Subscale scores represent the average of the 20 items relevant to that subscale. As seen in Table 1, Total Delegation and the delegation subscales yielded high internal consistency. As seen in Table 2, Total Delegation is highly correlated with the strategic (r = .98) and operational and administrative delegation (r = .99) providing validation of the construct. The high correlation between subscales (r = .94) indicates a significant and strong relationship that suggests redundancy between the subscales.

# **Descriptive Statistics**

Table 1 presents an integrated descriptive statistics summary of variable measurements and Cronbach's alpha used in the analysis of the reliability indexes.

The risk propensity assessment contained responses by means of a 5-point Likert type scale ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 5 = strongly agree. As seen in Table 1, the results indicate a moderate probability that leaders working in the capacity of making critical decisions have high risk propensity (M = 2.98). A comparison of the subscale means was assessed using a paired t-test which indicated that the average instrumental

risk propensity (M = 3.49) is significantly higher than stimulating risk propensity (M = 2.67), t(101) = 13.312, p < .001.

The delegation of critical decision assessment contained responses by means of a 10-point scale ranging from 1 – "I leave my subordinates(s) to analyze the situation and let him/her (or them) decide" to 10 – "I make the decision solely on my own judgment." As seen in Table 1, scores indicate a higher likelihood of making their own decisions (M = 6.32) and consequently a lower likelihood that leaders in this sample will delegate critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees. A similar trend was found for the strategic decision (M = 6.32) and operational and administrative decision (M = 6.32) subscales. Although obvious based on the equality of the subscale means, a comparison of the subscales using a paired t test indicated that the strategic decision and operational & administrative decision subscales were not significantly different.

## **Hypotheses Testing**

The purpose of the present study was to explore two primary hypotheses. The first hypothesis predicted that leaders with high risk propensity are less likely to delegate critical decision-making to followers than those with low risk propensity. Therefore, there will be a positive correlation between risk propensity and total scores on delegation in which higher scores indicate a propensity not to delegate. Table 2 reports bivariate correlations for all total and subscale scores assessed. Correlations found to be significantly different than zero are asterisked in Table 2.

The results of the present study confirm this hypothesis. Results shown in Table 2 revealed a significant negative correlation between risk propensity and delegation of critical decisions (r(102) = .27, p = .007). Higher values indicate a lower probability that a leader will delegate critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees. It is interesting to note that examination of the correlations between Total Delegation Decisions and each of the subscales of risk propensity indicate that instrumental risk propensity is a significant predictor (r(102) = .32, p = .001) although stimulating risk propensity is only marginally significant as alpha (level of significance) is not less than .05 (r(102) = .19, p = .055).

The second hypothesis predicted that leaders with high risk propensity are less likely to delegate critical decision making authority of operational decisions to followers than strategic decisions. In order to categorize participants as high versus low risk propensity, a median split was conducted for the Total Risk Propensity scores. Results of an independent t-test indicate that average Total Risk Propensity scores for the low propensity (M = 2.50, SD = .42) and high propensity (M = 3.43, SD = .37) groups were significantly different, t (100) = -11.85, p < .001, thus validating that the groups represent significantly different categories of risk propensity.

In order to test the second hypothesis, a paired samples t-test was conducted using high risk propensity participants only. Results indicate that the likelihood of delegating critical decision making authority of operational decisions (M = 6.64, SD = 2.27) is not significantly different than the likelihood of delegating strategic decisions (M = 6.65, SD = 2.00) and thus the second hypothesis proposed by the present research is not supported.

In retrospect, the present researcher realizes that elimination of the low propensity participants in the hypothesized findings prevents conclusions regarding the impact of level of risk propensity on delegation of decisions across the subcategories. Thus, in order to examine if strategic decision delegation and operational and administrative decision delegation differs across risk propensity categories, the resulting categorical risk propensity variable was used as the between-subjects independent variable and the type of decision delegation (strategic or operational and administrative) was used as the within-subjects independent variable in a mixed 2 X 2 ANOVA. In this way it was possible to assess whether the difference between delegation of strategic and operational & administration decisions was the same for low and high risk propensity business leaders or if the variables interact thus exhibiting a difference in delegation of decision subcategories for low and high propensity leaders.

As with any two-way factorial ANOVA, three hypothesis are explored: a) main effect of risk, b) main effect of decision delegation and c) the interaction between risk and decision delegation (described above). Results indicate that there was no main effect of risk, no main effect of decision delegation and no significant interaction. Table 3 summarizes the means assessed in the mixed ANOVA. In regards to the absence of the main effect of risk, this indicates that the overall decision delegation means for low risk propensity (M = 5.98) and high risk propensity (M = 6.64) were not statistically significantly different. Similarly, in regards to the absence of the main effect of decision delegation subcategory, this indicates that the overall strategic decision delegation mean (M = 6.31) was not statistically significantly different than the operational and

administrative decision delegation mean (M = 6.32). In regards to the absence of a significant interaction, as seen in Table 3, the pattern of results across risk category for strategic decisions is similar to that seen for operational & administrative. Thus, the impact of risk category is consistent for both levels of decision delegation.

Table 3

Delegation by Risk Propensity and Types of Decisions

	Low Risk Propensity (n = 50)		High Risk Propensity (n = 52)		Total (n=102)	
Types of Decisions	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Strategic Decisions	5.98	2.99	6.65	2.00	6.31	2.54
Operational & Admin Decisions	5.99	3.00	6.64	2.27	6.32	2.66
Total	5.98	2.99	6.64	2.13	6.31	2.60

Note: Dependent Variable is Delegation

### **Summary**

The results of the survey support the first hypothesis which proposed a positive correlation between a leader's risk propensity and their willingness to delegate critical decision-making authority. These findings suggest that leaders who retain primary responsibility for critical decision-making have high risk propensity while those who delegate decisions have less risk propensity. The evidence points to the possibility that after leaders evaluate the risk associated with business decisions, they may conclude that they are more skillful in determining the best decision alternative and implementation strategy rather than trusting subordinate managers and other employees with decision alternatives and implementation. These findings can also suggest that business leaders

who are risk takers are less likely to delegate because they are more confident in themselves than their associates.

Analyses of the data did not support the second hypothesis that proposed leaders with high risk propensity are less likely to delegate critical decision making authority of operational decisions to followers than strategic decisions. The results show that high risk leaders in critical decision-making capacities are equally likely to delegate operational and administrative decisions to subordinate managers and other employees as they are to delegate strategic decisions. Further, this trend is seen for leaders categorized as low as well as high in risk propensity. The lack of statistical significance shown in this study regarding the comparison of strategic and operational delegation for low versus high risk propensity leaders suggests that level of decision delegation is relatively consistent across risk and delegation type.

The following chapter provides a discussion of the potential uses of this information, further discussion on the influence of risk propensity on delegating critical decision-making authority, and recommendations for additional research.

## Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

#### Introduction

The purpose of this study was to provide empirical evidence of the influence risk propensity has on a leader's willingness to delegate critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees; the study also investigates whether high risk propensity is more, less, or equally likely to effect a leader's willingness to delegate operational and administrative decisions as opposed to strategic decisions. This chapter reviews the results of the research study, interprets the findings, discusses limitations and the potential impact of the findings on social change, and provides recommendations and suggestions for further study.

The first hypothesis addressed the question of whether leaders with high risk propensity are more, less, or equally likely to delegate critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees than leaders with low risk propensity. The results indicated that the higher the risk propensity the less likely leaders will delegate critical decision-making authority, and the lower the risk propensity the more likely leaders are willing to delegate critical decision making authority. The results indicate a stronger desire of leaders with higher risk propensities in critical decision-making capacities to remain in control of critical decisions.

The second hypothesis addressed whether leaders with high risk propensity are more, less, or equally likely to delegate critical decision-making authority for operational decisions than for strategic decisions. Table 3 reveals no statistical difference between the delegation of strategic decisions and the delegation of operational and administrative

decisions to subordinate managers and employees. The results reveal leaders with high risk propensity delegate strategic decisions and operational and adminstrative decisions equally.

# **Discussion/Interpretation of Findings**

This study added new literature to the correlation of risk propensity and critical decision-making behaviors. This researcher could find no published studies in which the risk propensity instrument was used to measure how risk propensity influences the willingness of leaders to delegate critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees. The study concludes that leaders with higher risk propensity scores prefer making critical decisions and therefore are less willing to delegate critical decision making authority to subordinate managers and employees.

The results for risk propensity are consistent with the results of studies by Kuzniak et al. (2015), O'Neil (2011), and Renn (1998). They conclude that an individual's risk propensity level is the basis of how they decide to manage risk, which ultimately determines whether they seek to accept or avoid the risk situation. The author's argued risk propensity affects how individuals derive the comfort of taking risks and the value of the associated gains involved for both business and personal circumstances. Individuals are more willing to take risks when certain losses are anticipated and are more willing to settle for a sure gain when absolute gains are anticipated.

The results for delegation of critical decisions agrees with research completed by Håkonsson et al. (2012) and Hitt et al. (2012). Critical decisions, when made effectively,

lead to improved organizational performance. In this study it was shown that critical decisions are accompanied by increased complexity and pressure. Håkonsson et al., and Hitt et al., concluded that critical decisions in their very nature are high-risk decisions an organization routinely makes to complete its various missions while in constant pursuit of its vision. The results of critical decisions ultimately place business enterprises in a position to succeed or fail in every facet of operations.

The results for strategic and operational decisions agrees with research completed by Hitt et al. (2012), Janczak (2005), Slack and Lewis (2011), and Slack (2015).

According to Hitt et al., and Janczak, strategic decisions are high-risk decisions designed to facilitate high-level goals such as competitive positioning, globalization, asset management, financial risk management, change management initiatives, strategic usage of information systems, vertical integration, process technology, and enterprise capacity. According to Slack and Lewis, and Slack, operational decisions include facility utilization, outsourcing, supply chain management, production capacity and capability, and quality management. The authors proposed leaders in critical decision making capacities view strategic and operational decisions in direct correlation with the overall success of the organization.

The use of Zaleskiewicz's (2001) Stimulating-Instrumental Risk Inventory to measure the risk propensity of leaders in critical decision making capacities was effective for this study. The Stimulating-Instrumental Risk Inventory showed to be reliable for risk propensity measurements. This researcher could find no published studies where the instrument was used in this manner.

The use of the Delegation Decision Instrument that measured the willingness of leaders to delegate critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees was effective for this study. The model showed to be remarkably reliable in terms of internal consistency for decision delegation measurement tests. Based on the results of this study, a number of recommendations can be provided.

#### **Recommendations**

Utilizing Likert scale questions, the findings provided new research in risk propensity and delegation of critical decision-making authority. Correlations between risk propensity and delegation of critical decisions research are limited in the field of social science. To continue this research, theorists of risk propensity, delegation of authority, and critical decision-making should pursue further study to uncover additional correlations in an effort to advance knowledge in the field of social science. One recommendation is to expand the study beyond leaders in critical decision making positions. For example, a future study could investigate whether managers and supervisors encounter the same risk prosperity influences in delegating critical decisions. Future studies could investigate risk propensity differences between leaders, managers, and supervisors.

## Limitations

The current study has a number of limitations that should be addressed in future research. The study did not determine how age could impact the willingness of leaders to delegate critical decision making authority. For example, it may be possible that older

professionals may average higher or lower risk propensities than younger professionals, which could alter the results of delegating critical decisions.

The survey process was initiated by a collaboration between the researcher, Survey Monkey, and data collection professionals from Cint research group. Confidentiality was assured for respondents, reducing the incentive to artificially inflate or disguise their responses. Considerable care has been taken in this research project to attend to concerns of reliability and validity. The validity and reliability of the assessment tools are addressed through the reliability coefficients within the present study. All coefficients were strong. The reader should remain aware that the data are derived from questionnaire surveys of participants who responded in an anonymous setting. The questions in the risk propensity instrument were personal. Distortion of data may increase when participants are asked personal questions. Possible distortion of risk propensity data can be verified with further research.

The respondents in this study share difficult critical decision-making responsibilities for their respective organizations. Measuring beliefs, perception and behavioral patterns remains a difficult task. In the area of risk propensity research, this difficulty is increased by an individual's unknown or unexplored evaluation of their comfort level in risk taking in regards to business goals and personal affairs.

The Delegation Decision scale, unlike the risk propensity scale, had no reversescored items in it. When all of the items measure in the same direction, it becomes likely that the respondent knows what's being measured and therefore how the researcher wants them to respond. Therefore, a percentage of the results could be observer bias. To ensure validity the instrument can be constructed to where half of the items are reversed scored.

## **Implications for Social Change**

Effective social change creates an atmosphere that makes a situation more conducive to a positive outcome and greater good. Social change includes service to others for their personal and professional benefit. Providing services to others is investing in their future, which is an investment in the well-being of the person and society. This study explores ways in which social scientist, researchers, and leaders can advance the understanding of how risk propensity impacts the delegation of critical decisions in organizations. This research and the resulting analysis could give decision makers a window into their individual risk propensity preferences. The information provided will allow decision makers to improve their delegation behaviors based on a new awareness of risk propensity influence. Increased awareness in delegation behaviors can lead to increased work productivity. This research and the measurement instruments could increase and improve the self-awareness of decision makers.

Critical decision making is a systematic set of processes designed to purposely advance the mission of the organization. Specifically, critical decision making in its very nature is a process of making high-risk decisions that an organization routinely enacts to complete its various missions while in constant pursuit of the realization of its vision. Delegation of critical decision-making to subordinate managers and employees advances their competency by increasing their repertoire of skills, thereby providing more valuable

contributions. This increase in individual competency leads to an increase in organizational competency (Bass, 2008).

### Implications of the study

This correlational study has implications for the fields of decision-making and risk propensity for researchers and practitioners from multiple perspectives. Delegation of decision-making authority facilitates organizational effectiveness and efficiency.

Organizational and personnel competency growth is enabled through delegating critical decision-making authority to the organization's lowest capable levels. Successful organizations leverage effective decision-making processes. As a result of this study, theorists of risk propensity and decision-making have available data with which they can educate decision makers on delegation behaviors that may result from high risk propensity, and possibly harm organizational performance. In turn, with this awareness, decision makers can become more cognizant of their behaviors during critical decision processes.

This study reveals the impact risk propensity has on a leader's willingness to delegate critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees. It suggests the need for scholars to further consider the implications of individual risk propensity in delegating critical decisions. At higher levels of risk propensity, delegating critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees tends to go lower. Analysis of the data reveals a degree of risk propensity leads to a decrease in delegation of critical decision-making opportunities, which is not conducive to subordinate manager and employee development.

On the basis of the results of the present study, it is possible that critical decision makers with higher levels of risk propensity may inadvertently neglect to develop subordinate managers and employees through the delegation of critical decision-making authority when opportunities arise. The analysis of the data reveals high risk propensity leaders with this level of responsibility prefer to achieve critical goals for the organization individually, and in doing so negatively influence organizational delegation practices and the skill and knowledge development of their associates.

### **Suggestions for Further Research**

While this study provides just one snapshot of these factors, it can be used and replicated in other situations. New studies creating new data must be further investigated to develop a deeper understanding of additional variables in individual preferences regarding delegation of decision making authority in relation to risk propensity. Future researchers can build upon this study to determine whether a better understanding of risk propensity is more likely to improve delegation of critical decision making in organizations. As previously addressed, the framework and measurement of this study have not been extensively used within the social sciences and academic communities.

In order to add to the depth of knowledge, this researcher recommends that further studies be conducted with both a larger targeted population of critical decision makers to determine any harm to organizational performance and employee development. I recommend dividing the larger population of possible respondents to domestic and global organizations and expanding the survey instrument that measures critical decisions delegation to include open-ended questions such as "Describe and provide an example,"

which can be delivered in an interview component. A research project such as this would provide in-depth and invaluable data through which all research communities and interested practitioners can benefit from a rich repertoire of risk propensity and delegation of critical decision-making.

### Summary

Chapter 1 presented the significant purposes of this study: (a) provide empirical evidence of the correlation between risk propensity and delegation of critical decisions; (b) provide empirical evidence of whether leaders in this sample in the capacity of making critical decisions have high risk propensity; and (c) investigate whether leaders with high risk propensity delegate operational and administrative decisions more, less, or equally to strategic decisions. The results and outcomes of this study fulfill these purposes. This study provides a new dimension to the understanding of risk propensity and delegation of critical decisions. The results of the study will assist decision makers in understanding the various impacts the influence of risk propensity on delegating critical decisions and its impact on organizational delegation practices and follower development.

This study provided new research regarding the correlation between risk propensity and delegation of critical decisions, and addresses the gap in research regarding risk propensity's influence on a leader's willingness to delegate critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees. As a researcher the correlational method allowed me to better understand the theories of leadership, decision-making, delegation of authority, and risk propensity.

The results of this research validated its central premises: that there is a positive correlation between risk propensity and delegation of critical decisions, and that risk propensity influences a leader's willingness to delegate critical decision-making authority to subordinate managers and employees. The study offers empirical evidence that the higher the risk propensity the more likely leaders will retain control of critical decisions.

There are multiple benefits of this research that can be utilized by future researchers, educators, and practitioners of risk propensity and decision making. First, researchers can use this model to add additional understanding of the correlations of risk propensity and delegating critical decisions. Second, this study provides educators with a deeper awareness of various correlational determinants of risk propensity and delegation of critical decisions, which will facilitate enriched teaching in the field of both concepts. Third, this study provides researchers and educators with an understanding that the degree of which leaders in the capacity of making critical decisions are willing to delegate this responsibility to their subordinate managers and employees is based on levels of risk propensity. Finally, practitioners can use this study to understand their individual strengths and weaknesses and tailor their critical decision-making behavior towards broadening their willingness to delegate critical decision authority to positively support organizational delegation practices and follower development.

#### References

- Abdellaoui, M., Diecidue, E., & Öncüler, A. (2011). Risk preferences at different time periods: An experimental investigation. *Management Science*, *57*(5), 975-987. doi:10.1287/mnsc.1110.1324
- Abell, D. (2014). The past, present, and future of strategy: Broadening challenges; advancing insight. *Iberoamerican Journal of Strategic Management (IJSM)*, 13(3), 07-18. doi:0.5585/rine.v13i3.2154
- Adamides, E. D. (2015). Linking operations strategy to the corporate strategy process: a practice perspective. *Business Process Management Journal*, 21(2), 267-287. doi:10.1108/BPMJ-07-2013-0107
- Adebisi, S. A., & Oghojafor, B. E. A. (2015). Company vision, mission, environment and strategies on performance of the global system for mobile-telecommunication industry in Nigeria. *Strategic Management Review*, *9*(1), 13-31. doi:10.4128/i1930-4560-9.1.13
- Adeyemi-Bello, T. (2001). Leaders' risk propensity and age as determinants of organizational growth in the not-for-profit-sector. *Management Research News*, 24(5), 17-23. doi:10.1108/01409170110782405
- Ajmal, S., Farooq, M. Z., Sajid, N., & Awan, S. (2012). Role of leadership in change management process. *Abasyn University Journal of Social Sciences*, *5*(2), 111-124. Retrieved from http://aupc.info/
- Allio, R. J. (2012). Leaders and leadership-many theories, but what advice is reliable?. Strategy & Leadership, 41(1), 4-14. doi:10.1108/10878571311290016

- Allio, R. J., & Fahey, L. (2012). Joan Magretta: what executives can learn from revisiting Michael Porter. *Strategy & Leadership*, 40(2), 5-10. doi:10.1108/10878571211209297
- Andreoni, J., & Sprenger, C. (2012). Risk preferences are not time preferences. *American Economic Review*, 102(7), 3357-3376. doi:10.1257/aer.102.7.3357
- Artz, M., Homburg, C., & Rajab, T. (2012). Performance-measurement system design and functional strategic decision influence: The role of performance-measure properties. *Accounting, Organizations and Society, 37*(7), 445-460 doi:10.1016/j.aos.2012.07.001
- Avery, G. C., & Bergsteiner, H. (2011). Sustainable leadership practices for enhancing business resilience and performance. *Strategy & Leadership*, 39(3), 5-15. doi:10.1108/10878571111128766
- Barreda-Tarrazona, I., Jaramillo-Gutierrez, A., Navarro-Martinez, D., & Sabater-Grande, G. (2014). The role of forgone opportunities in decision making under risk.

  \*\*Journal of Risk and Uncertainty, 49(2), 167-188. doi:10.1007/s11166-014-9201-4
- Bass, B. M. (2008). *Bass & Stogdill's Handbook of Leadership* (4th ed). New York, NY: Free Press Publishing.
- Battilana, J., Gilmartin, M., Sengul, M., Pache, A.-C., & Alexander, J. (2010). Leadership competences for implementing planned organizational change. *Leadership Quarterly*, 21, 422-438. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2010.03.007
- Beshears, J., & Gino, F. (2015). Leaders as decision architects. *Harvard Business Review*, 93(5), 52-62. Retrived from http://hbr.org/

- Birnbaum, M. H. (2004). Human research and data collection via the Internet. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 55, 803-832.

  doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.141601
- Bingham, C. B. & Eisenhardt, K. M. (2011). Rational heuristics: the 'simple rules' that strategists learn from process experience. *Strategic Management Journal*, *32*(13): 1437-1464. doi:10.1002/smj.965
- Bleichrodt, H., L'haridon, O., & Van Ass, D. (2014). The risk attitudes of professional athletes, 1-22. Retrieved from http://people.few.eur.nl/
- Bligh, M. C. (2011). Followership and follower-centered approaches. In A. Bryman, D. Collinson, K. Grint, B. Jackson, & M. Uhl-Bien (Eds.), *SAGE Handbook of Leadership* (pp. 393–403). London, UK: SAGE Publications.
- Bodnar, B., Giambbona, E., & Harvey, C. A. (2014). A view inside corporate risk management. *Duke University, Fuqua School of Business Working Paper*, 1-35. Retrieved from http://fuqua.duke.edu/
- Bolden, R. (2011). Distributed leadership in organizations: A review of theory and research. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 13(3), 251-269. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2370.2011.00306.x
- Bolívar-Ramos, M. T., García-Morales, V. J., & García-Sánchez, E. 2012. Technological distinctive competencies and organizational learning: Effects on organizational innovation to improve firm performance. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, 29(3), 331-357. doi:10.1016/j.jengtecman.2012.03.006
- Bremmer, I. (2014). The new rules of globalization. Harvard Business Review, 92(1),

- 103-107. Retrived from http://hbr.org/
- Brown, D. R. (2011). *An experimental approach to organizational development* (8th ed).

  Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Byrne, B. M. (2001). Structural equation modeling with AMOS: Basic concepts, applications, and programming. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Carnaggia, J. (2013), Does risk management matter? Evidence from the U.S. agricultural industry. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 109(2), 419-440. doi:10.1016/j.jfineco.2013.03.004
- Chen, R., Wang, J., Herath, T., & Rao, H. R. (2011). An investigation of email processing from a risky decision making perspective. *Decision Support Systems*, 52(1), 73-81. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2011.05.005
- Chevrier, S., & Viegas-Pires, M. (2013). Delegating effectively across cultures. *Journal of World Business*, 48(3), 431-439. doi:10.1016/j.jwb.2012.07.026
- Cikaliuk, M., Erakovic, L., Jackson, B., Noonan, C., & Watson, S. (2015). Governance and leadership by board chairs: Relationships and their effects. *In ICMLG2015-The 3rd International Conference on Management, Leadership and Governance: ICMLG2015*, 57-64. London, UK: Academic Conferences and Publishing Limited.
- Citroen, C. L. (2011). The role of information in strategic decision-making. *International Journal of Information Management*, *31*(6), 493-501.

  doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2011.02.005
- Costanzo, L. A., & Di Domenico, M. (2014). A Multi-level dialectical-paradox lens for

- top management team strategic decision-making in a corporate venture. *British Journal of Management*, 1-22. doi:10.1111/1467-8551.12073
- Craig, N., & Snook, S. (2014). From Purpose to Impact. *Harvard business review*, 92(5), 104-111. Retrived from http://hbr.org/
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage publications.
- Cronbach, L. J., & Shavelson, R. J. (2004). My current thoughts on coefficient alpha and successor procedures. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 64(3), 391-418. doi:10.1177/0013164404266386
- Csaszar, F. A., & Eggers, J. P. (2013). Organizational decision making: An information aggregation view. *Management Science*, 59(10), 2257-2277.
- Daft, R. L, (2015). Management (12th ed). Boston, MA: Cengage.
- Daft, R. L, (2015). Organization design and theory (12th ed.). Boston, MA: Cengage.
- Das, S. R., & Joshi, M. P. (2007). Process innovativeness in technology services organizations: Roles of differentiation strategy, operational autonomy and risk-taking propensity. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25, 643-660. doi:10.1016/j.jom.2006.05.011
- Day, D. V., Fleenor, J. W., Atwater, L. E., Sturm, R. E., & McKee, R. A. (2014).

  Advances in leader and leadership development: A review of 25 years of research and theory. *Leadership Quarterly*, 25(1), 63-82. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.11.004
- Demeester, L., De Meyer, A., & Grahovac, J. (2014). The role of operations executives in strategy making. *Journal of Operations Management*, 32(7), 403-413.

- doi:10.1016/j.jom.2014.09.006
- Denis, J., Kisfalvi, V., Langley, A., & Rouleau, L. (2011). Perspectives on strategic leadership. In A. Bryman, D. Collinson, K. Grint, B. Jackson & M. Uhl-Bien (Eds.), *SAGE Handbook of Leadership*, (pp. 71-85). London, UK: Sage Publications.
- Dillman, D. A., Smyth, J. D., & Christian, L. M. (2014). *Internet, phone, mail, and mixed-mode surveys: the tailored design method*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Dimitrios, N. K., Sakas, D. P., & Vlachos, D. S. (2013). Analysis of strategic leadership models in information technology. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 73, 268-275.doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.02.052.
- Dimitrios, N. K., Sakas, D. P., & Vlachos, D. S. (2013). Analysis of strategic leadership models in non-profit organizations. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 73, 276-284. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.02.053
- Dobbs, M. E. (2014). Guidelines for applying Porter's five forces framework: a set of industry analysis templates. *Competitiveness Review*, 24(1), 32-45. doi:10.1108/CR-06-2013-0059
- Dinh, J. E., & Lord, R. G. (2012). Implications of dispositional and process views of traits for individual difference research in leadership. *Leadership Quarterly*, 23(4), 651-669. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2012.03.003
- Dinh, J. E., Lord, R. G., Gardner, W. L., Meuser, J. D., Liden, R. C., & Hu, J. (2014).

  Leadership theory and research in the new millennium: Current theoretical trends

- and changing perspectives. Leadership Quarterly, 25(1), 36-62.
- Dionne, S. D., Gupta, A., Sotak, K. L., Shirreffs, K. A., Serban, A., Hao, C., & Yammarino, F. J. (2014). A 25-year perspective on levels of analysis in leadership research. *Leadership Quarterly*, 25(1), 6-35. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.11.002
- Dohmen, T., Falk, A., Huffman, D., Sunde, U., Schupp, J., & Wagner, G. G. (2011).

  Individual risk attitudes: measurement, determinants, and behavioral consequences. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, *9*(3), 522-550. doi:10.1111/j.1542-4774.2011.01015.x.
- Dohmen, T., Falk, A., Huffman, D., & Sunde, U. (2012). The intergenerational transmission of risk and trust attitudes. *Review of Economic Studies*, 79(2), 645-677. doi: 10.1093/restud/rdr027.
- Donnell, M., Yukl, G. A., & Taber, T. (2012). Leader behavior and LMX: a constructive replication. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 27(2). 143-154. doi:10.1108/02683941211199545
- Eisenbach, T. M., & Schmalz, M. C. (2014). Up close it feels dangerous: Anxiety in the face of risk. *FRB of New York Staff Report*, (610), 1-26. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2243656.
- Eisenbach, T. M., & Schmalz, M. C. (2015). Anxiety, overconfidence, and excessive risk taking. *FRB of New York Staff Report*, (711), 1-33. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2566464
- Elkouly, S. E., Mahmoud, M., Eldin, S., Misr, E., Hosny, H. F., & Eisawaf, A. L. (2014).

  What are the essential competencies of a strategic leader to lead the change within a telecommunication mobile operator in egypt? *American Society of*

- Competitiveness, 12(1), 161-175. Retrieved from http://eberly.iup.edu/
- Engel, K., Dirlea, V., Dyer, S., & Graff, J. (2015). How to build the permanently innovative company: five tested sets of management practices. *Strategy & Leadership*, 43(1), 3-10. doi:10.1108/SL-11-2014-0086
- Epper, T. F., & Fehr-Duda, H. (2012). The missing link: Unifying risk taking and time discounting. *University of Zurich Department of Economics Working Paper*, (96), 1-54. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2175461.
- Fakhfakh, H., Zouari, G., & Zouari-Hadiji, R. (2012). Internal capital markets and investment decisions. *Corporate Governance: International Journal of Business in Society*, 12(2), 179-198. doi:10.1108/14720701211214070
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *BehaviorResearchMethods*, 39(2), 175-191. doi:10.3758/BF03193146
- Fehr-Duda, H., & Epper, T. (2012). Probability and risk: Foundations and economic implications of probability-dependent risk preferences. *Annu. Rev. Econ.*, 4(1), 567-593. doi:10.1146/annurev-economics-080511-110950
- Fehr, E., Herz, H., & Wilkening, T. (2013). The lure of authority: Motivation and incentive effects of power. *American Economic Review*, 103(4). doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2324057
- Foropon, C., & McLachlin, R. (2013). Metaphors in operations management theory building. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 33(2), 181-196. Doi:10.1108/01443571311295626

- Frisk, J. E., Lindgren, R., & Mathiassen, L. (2014). Design matters for decision makers:

  Discovering IT investment alternatives. *European Journal of Information*Systems, 23(4), 442-461.doi:10.1057/ejis.2013.13
- Gardner, W. L., Lowe, K. B., Moss, T. W., Mahoney, K. T., & Cogliser, C. C. (2010).

  Scholarly leadership of the study of leadership: A review of The Leadership

  Quarterly's second decade, 2000–2009. *Leadership Quarterly*, 21, 922–958.

  doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2010.10.003
- Goldman, E. F. (2012). Leadership practices that encourage strategic thinking. *Journal* of Strategy and Management, 5(1), 25-40. Doi:10.1108/17554251211200437
- Gollier, C., Hammitt, J. K., & Treich, N. (2013). Risk and choice: A research saga. *Journal of risk and uncertainty*, 47(2), 129-145. doi: 10.1007/s11166-013-9175-7
- Gomes, C. F., Yasin, M. M., & Small, M. H. (2015). Capabilities as components of competitive strategy in the Portuguese service sector. *International Journal of Services and Operations Management*, 20(3), 302-319. doi:10.1504/IJSOM.2015.067770
- Graham, J. R., Harvey, C.R., & Puri, M. (2013). Managerial attitudes and corporate actions. *Journal of Finanical Economics*, *109*(1), 103-121. doi:10.1016/j.jfineco.2013.01.010
- Graham, J. R., Harvey, C.R., & Puri, M. (2015). Captial allocation and delegation of decision-making authority within firms. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 115(3), 449-470. doi:10.1016/j.jfineco.2014.10.011
- Gregoire, M. B., & Arendt, S. W. (2014). Leadership: Reflections over the past 100

- years. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 114*(5), S10-S19. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2014.02.023
- Guidice, R. M., Seale, D. A., & McAllister, D. W. (2013). Dynamic decision making: individual attributes and behavior in a challenge dice game. *Business and Economic Research*, *3*(1), 299-321. doi.org/10.5296/ber.v3i1.3207
- Günday, G., Ulusoy, G., Kılıç, K. and Alpkan, L., (2011). Effects of innovation types on firm performance. *International Journal of Production Economics*, *133*(2), 662-676. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2011.05.014
- Gupta, A., & Lawsirirat, C. (2013). Developing service operations strategy for optimal delivery of long-term service agreements using an integrated risk framework.

  International Journal of Information Systems in the Service Sector (IJISSS), 5(1), 33-67. doi:10.4018/jisss.2013010103
- Hancer, M., Ozturk, A. B., & Ayyildiz, T. (2009). Middle-level hotel managers' corporate entrepreneurial behavior and risk-taking propensities: A case of Didim, Turkey. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 18, 523-537. doi:10.1080/19368620902950113
- Håkonsson, D. D., Burton, R. M., Obel, B., & Lauridsen, J. T. (2012). Strategy implementation requires the right executive style: *Evidence from Danish SMEs*. *long range planning*, 45(2), 182-208. doi:10.1016/j.lrp.2012.02.004 MANY
- Hannah, S. T., Balthazard, P. A., Waldman, D. A., Jennings, P. L., & Thatcher, R. W.(2013). The psychological and neurological bases of leader self-complexity and effects on adaptive decision-making. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 98, 393-411.

- doi:10.1037/a0032257
- Hannigan, T. J., Hamilton III, R. D., & Mudambi, R. (2015). Competition and competitiveness in the US airline industry. *Competitiveness Review*, 25(2), 134-155. doi:10.1108/CR-11-2014-0036
- Harris, M., & Raviv, A. (2005). Allocation of decision-making authority. *Review of Finance*, 9(3), 353-383. doi:10.1007/s10679-005-2263-z
- Hernandez, M., Eberly, M. B., Avolio, B. J., & Johnson, M. D. (2011). The loci and mechanisms of leadership: Exploring a more comprehensive view of leadership theory. *Leadership Quarterly*, 22(6), 1165-1185. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2011.09.009
- Hey, J. D., & Panaccione, L. (2011). Dynamic decision making: what do people do?.

  \*\*Journal of Risk and Uncertainty, 42(2), 85-123. doi:10.1007/s11166-011-9114-4
- Hoffman, E. L., & Lord, R. G. (2013). A taxonomy of event-level dimensions:

  Implications for understanding leadership processes, behavior, and performance.

  Leadership Quarterly, 24(4), 558–571. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.03.009
- Hitt, M., Ireland, R. D., & Hoskisson, R. (2012). *Strategic management cases: BOAL competitiveness and globalization* (10th ed). Mason, OH:Cengage Learning.
- Hoque, Z. (2011). The relations among competition, delegation, management accounting systems change and performance: A path model. *Advances in Accounting*, 27(2), 266-277. doi:10.1016/j.adiac.2011.05.006
- Hassan, S., Mahsud, R., Yukl, G. A., & Prussia, G. E. (2013). Ethical and empowering leadership and leader effectiveness. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 28(2),

- 133-146. doi:10.1108/02683941311300252
- Hughes, R. L, Beatty, K.C., & Dinwoodie, D.L. (2014). *Becoming a strategic leader:*Your role in your organization's enduring success (2nd ed). San Francisco, CA:

  Jossey-Bass.
- Hunter, E. M., Neubert, M. J., Perry, S. J., Witt, L. A., Penney, L. M., & Weinberger, E. (2013). Servant leaders inspire servant followers: Antecedents and outcomes for employees and the organization. *Leadership Quarterly*, 24(2), 316-331. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2012.12.001
- Ibarra, H. (2015). The authenticity paradox. *Harvard Business Review*, 93(1/2), 53-59. Retrived from http://hbr.org/
- Jagoda, K., & Kiridena, S. (2015). Operations strategy processes and performance:
  Insights from the contract apparel manufacturing industry. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 26(2), 261-279. doi:10.1108/JMTM-10-2013-0156
- Janczak, S. (2005). The strategic decision making processes in organizations. *Problems* and *Perspectives in Management*, 3, 58-70. Retrieved from http://businessperspectives.org/
- Jayaram, J., Choon Tan, K., & Laosirihongthong, T. (2014). The contingency role of business strategy on the relationship between operations practices and performance. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 21(5), 690-712.
  Doi:10.1108/BIJ-10-2012-0066
- Johansson, M., Hallberg, N., Hinterhuber, A., Zbaracki, M., & Liozu, S. (2012). Pricing

- strategies and pricing capabilities. *Journal of Revenue & Pricing Management*, 11(1), 4-11. doi:10.1057/rpm.2011.42
- Kaplan, S. N., Klebanov, M. M., & Sorensen, M. (2012). Which CEO characteristics and abilities matter? *Journal of Finance*, 67(3), 973-1007. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261.2012.01739.x
- Keil, M., Wallace, L., Turk, D., Dixon-Randell, G., & Nulden, U. (2000). An investigation of risk perception and risk propensity on the decision to continue a software development project. *Journal of System and Software*, 53, 245-257. doi:10.1016/S0164-1212(00)00010-8
- Kennedy, P. J., & Avila, R. J. (2013). Decision making under extreme uncertainty: blending quantitative modeling and scenario planning. *Strategy & Leadership*, 41(4), 30-36. doi:10.1108/SL-04-2013-0025
- Kilic, K., Ulusoy, G., Gunday, G., & Alpkan, L. (2015). Innovativeness, operations priorities and corporate performance: An analysis based on a taxonomy of innovativeness. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, 35, 115-133. doi:10.1016/j.jengtecman.2014.09.001
- Kim, Y. H., Sting, F. J., & Loch, C. H. (2014). Top-down, bottom-up, or both? Toward an integrative perspective on operations strategy formation. *Journal of Operations Management*, 32(7), 462-474. doi: 10.1016/j.jom.2014.09.005
- Kim, Y., & Ployhart, R. E. (2014). The effects of staffing and training on firm productivity and profit growth before, during, and after the great recession. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 99(3), 361. Doi:10.1037/a0035408 DEL PUR

- Kimemia, J. N. (2011). Effective delegation and control in organizations. Proceedings.

  ICE '11 Proceedings of the second international conference on education, 550556. Retrieved from http://cuseinkenya.syr.edu/ DEL
- Klarner, P., & Raisch, S. (2013). Move to the beat: Rhythm of change and firm performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 56(1), 160–184. doi:10.5465/amj.2010.0767
- Kovjanic, S., Schuh, S. C., & Jonas, K. (2013). Transformational leadership and performance: An experimental investigation of the mediating effects of basic needs satisfaction and work engagement. *Journal of occupational and organizational psychology*, 86(4), 543-555. doi:10.1111/joop.12022
- Krause, R., Semadeni, M., & Cannella, A. A. (2013). External COO/presidents as expert directors: A new look at the service role of boards. *Strategic Management Journal*, *34*(13): 1628-1641. doi:10.1002/smj.2081
- Kriger, M. P, & Zhovotbryukh, Y. (2012) Rethinking strategic leadership: stars, clans, teams and networks. *Journal of Strategy and Management*, 6(4), 411-432. doi:10.1018/jsma-09-2012-0015
- Kuzniak, S., Rabbani, A., Heo, W., Ruiz-Menjivar, J., & Grable, J. E. (2015). The Grable and Lytton risk-tolerance scale: A 15-year retrospective. *Financial Services*\*Review, 24(2), 177-192. Retrieved from http://academyfinancial.org/
- Langley, A., Smallman, C., Tsoukas, H., & Van de Ven, A. H. (2013). Process studies of change in organization and management: Unveiling temporality, activity, and flow. *Academy of Management Journal*, *56*(1), 1-13. doi:10.5465/amj.2013.4001

- Leavy, B. (2012). Updating a classic formula for strategic success: focus, alignment, repeatability and leadership. *Strategy & Leadership*, 41(1), 18-28. doi:10.1108/10878571311290043
- Leavy, B. (2014). Strategy, organization and leadership in a new "transient-advantage" world. *Strategy & Leadership*, 42(4), 3-13. doi:10.1108/SL-05-2014-0038
- Lee, D. (2010). Information, incentives, and delegation of authority. Working paper.

  Retrieved from http://www.econ.sinica.edu
- Li, K. K. (2011). Preference towards control in risk taking: Control, no control, or randomize? *Journal of Risk and Uncertainty*, *43*(1), 39-63. doi:10.1007/s11166-011-9122-4
- Lord, R. G., Hannah, S. T., & Jennings, P. L. (2011). A framework for understanding leadership and individual requisite complexity. *Organizational Psychology*\*Review, 1(2), 104–127. doi:10.1177/2041386610384757
- Lord, R. G., & Shondrick, S. J. (2011). Leadership and knowledge: Symbolic, connectionist, and embodied perspectives. *Leadership Quarterly*, 22(1), 207-222. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2010.12.016
- Lorentz, H., & Hilmola, O. P. (2012). Confidence and supply chain disruptions: Insights into managerial decision-making from the perspective of policy. *Journal of Modelling in Management*, 7(3), 328-356. doi:10.1108/17465661211283304
- Lunenburg, F. C. (2011). Leadership versus management: a key distinction—at least in theory. *International Journal of Management, Business, and Administration,*14(1), 1-4.Retrieve from http://nationalforum.com/

- MacCrimmon, K. R., & Wehrung, D.A. (1990). Characteristics of risk taking executives. *Management Science*, *36*, 422-435. doi:10.1287/mnsc.36.4.422
- Magretta, J. (2012). Michael Porter answers managers' FAQs. *Strategy & Leadership*, 40(2), 11-15.doi.org/10.1108/10878571211209305
- Malmendier, U. and S. Nagel (2011). Depression babies: Do macroeconomic experiences affect risk-taking? *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 126, 373-416. doi:10.1093/qje/qjq004.
- Malone, T. W., & Team, L. Y. (2013). Is empowerment just a fad? Control, decision making, and IT. *Sloan Management Review*, 38(2). Retrieved from http://sloanreview.mit.edu/
- Marmier, F., Gourc, D., & Laarz, F. (2013). A risk oriented model to assess strategic decisions in new product development projects. *Decision Support Systems*, 56, 74-82. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2013.05.002
- Manduca, B. (2012). Leading effective change: Three keys for transforming your organization. *Strategic Leadership Review*, 2(2), 28-34.Retrieved from https://submissions.scholasticahq.com
- Mayer, R. C., Davis, J. H., & Schoorman, F. D. (1995). An integrative model of organizational trust. *Academy of Management Review*, 20, 709 –734. Retrieved from http://aom.org/
- Maynard, M. T., Gilson, L. L., & Mathieu, J. E. (2012). Empowerment: Fad or fab?. A multilevel review of the past two decades of research. *Journal of Management*, 38(4), 1231-1281. doi: 10.1177/0149206312438773

- Melnyk, S. A., Bititci, U., Platts, K., Tobias, J., & Andersen, B. (2014). Is performance measurement and management fit for the future? *Management Accounting*\*Research, 25(2), 173-186. doi:10.1016/j.mar.2013.07.007
- Men, L. (2012). The effects of organizational leadership on strategic internal communication and employee outcomes. Retrieved from http://scholarlyrepository.miami.edu/
- Mendibil, K., Rudberg, M., Baines, T., & Errasti, A. (2013). In Errasti, A. (Eds.):

  Operations strategy and deployment. *Global Production Networks: Operations*Design and Management, (pp. 61-92). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press
- Millett, S. M. (2012). Four decades of business scenarios: what can experience teach? Strategy & Leadership, 41(1), 29-33.doi.org/10.1108/10878571311290052
- Mishra, S., & Lalumière, M. L. (2011). Individual differences in risk-propensity:

  Associations between personality and behavioral measures of risk. *Personality*and Individual Differences, 50(6), 869-873. doi:10.5750/jgbe.v2i3.536
- Newhall, S. (2011). Preparing our leaders for the future. *Strategic HR Review*, 11 (1), 5-12. doi::10.1108/14754391211186250
- Nieß, C., & Biemann, T. (2014). The role of risk propensity in predicting self-employment. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 99(5), 1000-1009. doi:10.1037/a0035992.
- Nicholson, N., Fention-O'Creecy, M., Soane, E., & William, P. (2005). Domain specific risk taking and personality. *Journal of Risk Research*, 8(2), 157-176. doi:10.1080/1366987032000123856

- Nobre, L. H. N., & Grable, J. E. (2015). The role of risk profiles and risk tolerance in shaping client investment decisions. *Journal of Financial Service Professionals*, 69(3), 18-21. Retrieved from http://financialpro.org
- Nohe, C., Michaelis, B., Menges, J. I., Zhang, Z., & Sonntag, K. (2013). Charisma and organizational change: A multilevel study of perceived charisma, commitment to change, and team performance. *Leadership Quarterly*, 24(2), 378-389. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.02.001
- Nooraie, M. (2012). Factors influencing strategic decision-making processes.

  \*International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences, 2(7), 405-429. Retrieved from http://hrmars.com/
- Northhouse, P. G. (2012). *Leadership: Theory and Practice*. (7th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- O'Neill, B. (2001). Risk aversion in international relations theory. *International Studies Quarterly*, 45(2): 617-640. doi:10.1111/0020-8833.00217
- Outreville, J. F. (2014). Risk aversion, risk behavior, and demand for insurance: A survey. *Journal of Insurance Issues*, *37*(2), 158-186. Retrieved from http://jstor.org/stable/43151298
- Oreg, S., & Berson, Y. (2011). Leadership and smployees' reactions to change: The role of leaders' personal attributes and transformational leadership style. *Personnel Psychology* 64(3): 627–659. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6570.2011.01221.x
- Özer, F., & Tınaztepe, C. (2014). Effect of strategic leadership styles on firm performance: A Study in a Turkish SME. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral*

- Sciences, 150, 778-784. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.09.059
- Papadakis, V. M., & Barwise, P. (2002). How much do CEOs and top managers matter in strategic decision-making? *British Journal of Management*, *13*(1), 83–95. doi:10.1111/1467-8551.00224
- Paiva, E. L., & Vieira, L. M. (2011). Strategic choices and operations strategy: a multiple cases study. *International Journal of Services and Operations Management*, 10(2), 119-135. doi:10.1504/IJSOM.2011.042514
- Peterson, S. J., Galvin, B. M., & Lange, D. (2012). CEO servant leadership: Exploring executive characteristics and firm performance. *Personnel Psychology*, 65(3), 565-596. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6570.2012.01253.x
- Renn, O. 1998. Three decades of risk research: Accomplishments and new challenges. *Journal of Risk Research*, 1(1), 49-71. doi:10.1080/136698798377321
- Riabacke, A. (2006). Managerial decision making under risk and uncertainty. *IAENG International Journal of Computer Science*, 32, 4-12. Retrieved from http://www2.tec.ilstu.edu/
- Robert, M. J., Shepherd, D. A., & Sharfman, M. P. (2011). Erratic strategic decisions: when and why managers are inconsistent in strategic decision making. *Strategic Management Journal*, 32(7), 683-704. doi: 10.1002/smj.905
- Ruiz-Menjivar, J., Heo, W., & Grable, J. E. (2015). The effects of situational and dispositional factors on the change in financial risk tolerance. *Handbook of Research on Behavioral Finance and Investment Strategies: Decision Making in the Financial Industry.* 201-218. Hershey, PA: IGI-Global.

- Ryan, S. (2012). The relationship between shared vision, cohesion, role clarity, mutual trust and transformational leadership within a team setting (Doctoral dissertation, Stellenbosch: Stellenbosch University). Retrieved from http://scholar.sun.ac.za/
- Salih, A., & Doll, Y. (2013). A middle management perspective on strategy
  implementation. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8(22), 32-39. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n22p32
- Sakas, D., Vlachos, D., & Nasiopoulos, D. (2014). Modelling strategic management for the development of competitive advantage, based on technology. *Journal of Systems and Information Technology*, 16(3), 187-209. Doi:10.1108/JSIT-01-2014-0005
- Sengul, M., Gimeno, J., & Dail, J. (2012). Strategic delegation: A review, theoretical integration, and research agenda. *Journal of Management*, 38(1), 375-414. doi:10.1177/0149206311424317
- Sengul, M., & Gimeno, J. (2013). Constrained delegation limiting subsidiaries' decision rights and resources in firms that compete across multiple industries.

  \*\*Administrative Science Quarterly, 58(3), 420-471.\*\*

  doi:10.1177/0001839213500272
- Sengul, M., & Gimeno, J. (2011). Competition across multiple businesses: The impact on organizational structure and resource allocation. Working paper
- Schaap, J. I. (2012). Strategy implementations: Can organizations attain outstanding performance? *Strategic Management Review*, 6(1), 98-121.doi:10.4128/1930-4560-6.1.98

- Schumann, S., Furman, N., & Shooter, W. (2010). The effect of decision-making factors, risk-taking propensity, and environmental conditions on decision making in hazardous outdoor terrain. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 32(3), 280–284. doi:10.5193/JEE.32.3.255
- Schoemaker, P. J., Krupp, S., & Howland, S. (2013). Strategic leadership: The essential skills. *Harvard business review*, *91*(1), 131-134. Retrieved from http://tharvardbusiness.org/
- Shapira, Z. (1995). Risk taking: A managerial perspective. New York, NY: Sage.
- Shen, C. Y. (2014). The economic analysis model of operations strategy. *In Industrial Engineering and Engineering Management (IEEM)*, 2014 IEEE International Conference, (pp. 1362-1366). doi:10.1109/IEEM.2014.7058861
- Shepherd, N. G., & Rudd, J. M. (2014). The Influence of context on the strategic decision-making process: A review of the literature. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 16(3), 340-364. doi:10.1111/ijmr.12023
- Singleton, R. A., & Straits, B. C. (2005). *Approaches to social research* (4th ed.). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Slack, N., Lewis, M., (2011). *Operations Strategy* (3rd ed). Harlow, UK: Pearson.
- Slack, N. (2015). Operations strategy. Wiley Encyclopedia of Management. 10:1–2. doi:10.1002/9781118785317.weom100160
- Slattery, J. (2013). Change management. *Journal of Strategic Leadership*, 4(2), 1-5.

  Retrieve from http://www.regent.edu/
- Speier, C., Whipple, J. M., Closs, D. J., & Voss, M. D. (2011). Global supply chain

- design considerations: Mitigating product safety and security risks. *Journal of Operations Management*, 29(7), 721-736. doi:10.1016/j.jom.2011.06.003
- Spulick, S. R. (2015). The effect of executive style on risk management: A healthcare supply chain context. *Electronic Theses & Dissertations, paper 1287*. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.georgiasouthern.edu/
- Tamm, T., Seddon, P. B., Parkes, A., & Kurnia, S. (2014). A model of strategic IT decision-making processes. *ACIS*, 1-11. Retrieve from http://aut.researchgateway.ac.nz/
- Tan, H. H., & Lim, A. K. H. (2009). Trust in coworkers and trust in organizations. *Journal of Psychology*. 143(1), 45-66. doi:10.3200/JRLP.143.1.45-66
- Tichy, N. M., & Cardwell, N. (2004). *The cycle of leadership*. New York, NY: Harpercollins.
- Trkman, P., McCormack, K., De Oliveira, M. P. V., & Ladeira, M. B. (2010). The impact of business analytics on supply chain performance. *Decision Support Systems*, 49(3), 318-327. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2010.03.007
- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1992). Advances in prospect theory: Cumulative representation of uncertainty. *Journal of Risk and Uncertainty*, 5(4),297-323 doi:10.1007/BF00122574
- Uhl-Bien, M., & Marion, R. (2011). Complexity leadership theory. In A. Bryman, D.Collinson, K. Grint, B. Jackson & M. Uhl-Bien (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook of leadership* (pp. 468-482). London, UK: Sage Publications.
- Upton, D. R. (2012). Experimental balanced scorecard research: Implications for

- practitioners. *Management Accounting Quarterly, 13*(4), 25-44. Retrieved from http://imanet.org/
- Van de Ven, A. H., Leung, R, Bechara, J. P. & Sun, K. (2012). Changing organizational designs and performance frontiers. *Organization Science*, 23, 1055-1076. doi:10.1287/orsc.1110.0694
- Vaxevanou, A.Z., Konstantopoulos, N., & Sakas, D.P. (2012). Outsourcing or insourcing in the high technology systems sector in a maritime company. *Key Engineering Materials*, (495), 163-166. doi:10.4028/www.scientific.net/KEM.495.163
- Verbano, C., & Venturini, K. (2011). Development paths of risk management: approaches, methods and fields of application. *Journal of Risk Research*, *14*(5), 519-550. doi:10.1080/13669877.2010.541562
- Verbano, C., & Venturini, K. (2013). Managing risks in SMEs: A literature review and research agenda. *Journal of technology management & innovation*, 8(3), 186-197. doi: 10.4067/S0718-27242013000400017
- Vykydal, D., Halfarová, P., Nenadál, J., Plura, J., & Hekelová, E. (2012). Risk analysis related to quality management principles. *Scientific Proceedings Faculty of Mechanical Engineering STU in Bratislava*, 20(1), 87-92.doi:10.2478/v10228-012-0014-7
- Wambua, B. M. (2014). Operations strategy and business performance in the mobile phone service providers in Kenya (*Doctoral dissertation*, *University of Nairobi*). Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/
- Wang, R. D., & Shaver, J. M. (2014). Competition-driven repositioning. Strategic

- Management Journal, 35(11), 1585-1604.dOI:10.1002/smj.2167
- Weber, M., Weber, E. U., & Nosić, A. (2012). Who takes risks when and why:

  Determinants of changes in investor risk taking. *Review of Finance*, 24(1), 1-37.

  doi:10.1093/rof/rfs024
- Western, S. (2011). An overview of leadership discourses. In Preedy M, Bennett N,
  Wise C, editors: *Educational Leadership: Context, Strategy and Collaboration*,
  11-24. Retrieved from http://sagepub.in/
- Wilburn, K. M., & Wilburn, H. R. (2011). Scenarios and strategic decision making.

  \*Journal of Management Policy and Practice, 12(4), 164-178. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/jmppopen
- Wilkins, L. (2002). A primer on risk: An interdisciplinary approach to thinking about public understanding of agbiotech. *Journal of Agrobiotechnology Management* and Economics, 4(3), 163-172. Retrieved from http://AgBioForum.org/
- Xue, L. (2014). Governance–knowledge fit and strategic risk taking in supply chain digitization. *Decision Support Systems*, 62, 54-65. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2014.03.003
- Yukl, G. A. (2011). Contingency theories of effective leadership. In A. Bryman, D.Collinson, K. Grint, B. Jackson & M. Uhl-Bien (Eds.), SAGE handbook of leadership, (pp. 288-298). London, UK: Sage Publications.
- Yukl, G. A. (2012). Leadership in organizations (8th ed). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Yukl, G. A. (2015). Effective Leadership Behavior: What we know and what questions need more attention. *Journal of Management*, 26(4), 66-85.

- doi:10.5465/amp.2012.0088
- Zaleskiewicz, T. (2001). Beyond risk seeking and risk aversion: Personality and the dual nature of economic risk taking, *European Journal of Personality*, *15*, 105-112. doi:10.1002/per.426
- Zhang, X., & Bartol, K. M. (2010). Linking employee leadership and employee creativity: influence of psychological empowerment. *Intrinsic Motivation, and Creative Process Engagement*, 53(1), 107-128. doi:10.5465/AMJ.2010.48037118

# Appendix A: Risk Propensity Questionnaire

Please reflect your risk preference for the following risk situations and opportunities. Use the following scale (1-5) and indicate how much risk you're comfortable taking relative to what's at stake.

Stron	gly dis	agree			
Somewhat disagree					
Neutral/no opinion					
Somewhat agree					
Strongly agree					
	i	i	i	i	i
has to take high	1	2	3	4	5
s to take risks	1	2	3	4	5
	-	_		·	
I take even very	1	2	3	4	5
ly without an	1	2	3	4	5
	-	_		·	
		_			_
of a very pleasant	1	2	3	4	5
s activities	1	2	3	4	5
	1	2	3	4	5
	1	2	3	4	5
	1	<b>4</b>	3	'	3
work place	1	2	3	4	5
	Somewhat agree Strongly agree Strongly agree thas to take high to take risks I take even very ly without an of a very pleasant s activities	Somewhat disages Neutral/no opinion Somewhat agree Strongly agree   Strongly agree   I take even very 1  Ity without an 1  If a very pleasant 1  Is activities 1  I take 1	Somewhat disagree Neutral/no opinion Somewhat agree Strongly agree  thas to take high 1 2  It take even very 1 2  If a very pleasant 1 2	Neutral/no opinion         Somewhat agree       Strongly agree         2 thas to take high       1       2       3         3 to take risks       1       2       3         4 take even very       1       2       3         3 ty without an       1       2       3         4 a very pleasant       1       2       3         5 activities       1       2       3         1       2       3         1       2       3         1       2       3         1       2       3         1       2       3         1       2       3         1       2       3         2       3         3       3         4       2       3	Somewhat disagree   Neutral/no opinion   Somewhat agree   Strongly agree   Strongly agree   Strongly agree   1

I avoid activities whose result depend too much on chance	1	2	3	4	5
In business one should take risk only if the situation can be controlled	1	2	3	4	5
The skill of reasonable risk taking is one of the most important Leadership skills	1	2	3	4	5
I take risk only if it is absolutely necessary to achieve an important goal	1	2	3	4	5
Gambling seems something very exciting to me	1	2	3	4	5
If I play a game (e.g. cards) I prefer to play for money	1	2	3	4	5
If there was a big chance to multiply the capital that I would invest my money even in the shares of a completely new and uncertain firm	1	2	3	4	5

## Appendix B: Critical Decision Delegation Questionnaire

Please reflect on the many decisions you made the last six months or year, or imagine the situation in which you'd have to make the following decision. Who DID (or WILL) make the following decisions? Use the following scale (1-10) and indicate how much YOU decide relative to your DELEGATION to your subordinates.

- 10: I make the decision solely on my own judgment (100% of my input in making a final decision).
- 7: I consult with my subordinate(s) and come to my own decision (70% of my input).
- 5: I participate in the process with my subordinate(s) and come to consensus (50% of my input).
- 3: I offer my idea(s) to my subordinates, but I let him/her/them decide (30% of my input).
- 1: I leave my subordinate(s) to analyze the situation and let him/her (or them) decide. (0-10%).

You may use any number between 0 and 10 to best estimate the percentage of the amount of your input. Graphically, the amount of your input in the decision is:

### **Strategic Decisions**

 1. Establishing strategic objectives for improved organizational performance
 2. Determining corporate restructuring for improved performance
3. Determining defensive strategies to protect competitive advantage

4. Determining market expansion strategy for emerging foreign market capitalization
5. Negotiating collaborative joint venture partnership for improved market presence and delivery of good and services
6. Negotiating strategic alliance for improved market presence and delivery of goods and services
7. Negotiating business acquisition for improved industry position and expansion of goods and services offered
8. Determining merger implementation timeline
9. Determining technological investment to create innovative value
10. Establishing financial objectives to achieve corporate goals
11. Allocating investment capital to maximize asset wealth
12. Infrastructure investments for improved efficiency and effectiveness
13. Determining objectives to promote a strategy-supportive culture
14. Pushing corrective actions to improve strategy execution and overall organizational performance
15. Determining forceful actions to flush out undesirable cultural traits
16. Delayering management hierarchy
17. Determining strategies keeping the organization responsive to changing conditions
18. Determining strategy-critical value chain activities
19. Leveraging organizational core competencies into competitively valuable capabilities
20. Determining resource allocation priorities to enhance competitiveness and profitability
Operational & Administrative Decisions
1. Establishing product and service capacity outputs

2. Investing in new facility for increased production capability
3. Establishing prices of product or services
4. Determining how to align information technology and operations strategic goals
5. Establishing outsourcing criteria for improved manufacturing and service capability
6. Determining vertical integration strategies to extend an organization's competitive scope and responsiveness
7. Selecting cross market subsidization alternatives for improved performance in under-performing markets
8. Selecting process technology investments for increased production
9. Determining the utilization of performance-based compensation systems
10. Terminating employees
11. Coordinating supply chain operations for optimum performance
12. Establishing distribution structure for optimum efficiency
13. Determining whether demand is met with a few large facilities or several
smaller ones
14. Determining whether facilities focus on serving certain geographic regions, product lines, or customers 15. Determining target levels of quality for products and services
16. Determining how employees will be involved with quality
17. Determining how quality awareness is maintained
18. Modifying existing products or services to create improved value
19. Development of new products or services that create value
20. Determining how operating systems execute strategic decisions

### Appendix C: Participant Invitation Letter

To: john.doe@company.com

From: rcdoctor@waldenu.edu

Subject: 15 min Survey

Body: As part of my doctoral dissertation for a PhD in management from Walden University (www.waldenu.edu). The survey will take 15 minutes (or less).

My dissertation examines the relationships between risk propensity and the influence it has on delegating critical decision making authority to subordinates.

You are being requested to participate in this survey because you are recognized in the Hebert Research database as a strategic member of your organization and your firm is publicly traded.

You do not need knowledge of any particular software or hardware; please just share your anonymous opinion for this academic research.

Again, the responses to this survey are confidential, and will be used solely for my academic research.

Please use this link to complete the 20 minute survey: <a href="http://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx">http://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx</a> This link is uniquely tied to this survey and your email address. Please do not forward this message.

Thank you very much for your participation!

Sincerely, Reginald Doctor

Please note: This invitation is mailed through online survey system "surveymonkey.com". If you click the link below, your email will be removed from future

mailings through this system. However, this survey is part of my academic research for my sole use and I value your input. If you have questions or concerns, please contact me at rcdoctor@waldenu.edu or rcdoctor@gmail.com

http://www.surveymonkey.com/optout.aspx

## Appendix D: Participant Consent

### **CONSENT**

You are invited to participate in a study which aims to assess the relationship the relationships between risk propensity and the influence it has on delegating critical decision making authority to subordinates. You were chosen to participate in this survey because you are a senior leader in in your organization. This study is being conducted by Reginald Doctor who is a doctoral student at Walden University.

### **Study Background:**

The study explores the level and importance of risk propensity's influence in leadership, specifically delegating authority. This researcher aims to gain a deeper understanding of the interplay between risk propensity influence and delegating critical decision authority within the business enterprise.

# **Participation:**

Your participation in this study is voluntary. If you decide to participate, but want to withdraw from your participation later, you can do so at your own free will at any time during the survey. If you feel stressed while responding to the survey questions, you may stop at any time. If you feel a question is overly personal and you do not want to respond, you may skip the question.

#### **Risks and Benefits:**

No personally identifying information will be published, and all information will be maintained via a secure Web site that is accessible only by the researcher, thereby minimizing any risk. The researcher envisions benefits at the leadership development level. If the results of this study show a relationship between risk propensity influence and firm performance, it may be possible to draw conclusions regarding leadership development, capabilities & behaviors, approaches, and more.

### **Compensation:**

The success of this research depends on your participation. Thank you in advance for your time and support and as a token of my appreciation I would like to offer you:

an opportunity to win a Digital Camera or 160GB iPod Touch (\$250 retail value)
 in a drawing;

- a summary report of the research analysis results so that you can identify the drivers of your relationships with your IT department and how it affects your firm performance;
  - Please note that the chances to win gifts are available only to those respondents who complete the entire survey.

### **Confidentiality:**

Any information you provide will be kept strictly confidential. The researcher will not use your information for any purpose outside of this research project. Also, the researcher will not include your name, your company name, or anything else that could identify you in any reports of the study.

#### **Contact Information:**

The researcher's name is Reginald Doctor and his faculty advisor is Professor Lee W. Lee. If you have any questions at any time regarding this study, please contact the researcher at rcdoctor@waldenu.edu or his advisor at lee.lee@waldenu.edu. If you have any concerns that require immediate clarification before you begin this survey, please contact the researcher at (425)-750-2369 (mobile) or Professor Lee at 860-770-6302 (office). If you want to talk privately about your rights as a participant, you can call Dr. Leilani Endicott. She is the Director of the Research Center at Walden University. Her phone number is 1-800-925-3368, extension 1210.

If you desire, the researcher will provide you a copy of this form for your records, please contact the researcher directly. Alternatively, you may print this form from your browser (file+print).

Please provide your response to the 41 questions as completely as you can. Questions include assessment of your risk propensity and assessment of your willing to delegate strategic, operational, and administrative critical decisions, and some demographic questions. The survey will take approximately 20 minutes to complete.

**Statement of Consent:** If you are comfortable participating in the survey as described above, please click "Next" to begin the survey.